

# NASA Grant and Cooperative Agreement Manual

In Accordance with 2 CFR Part 200

Implementation Date: December 26, 2014

# Contents

1.0	Purpose	1
2.0	General	1
2.1	Relationship between the GCAM and the Federal Acquisition Regulation	1
2.2	Acronyms	1
3.0	Choice of Award Instrument	2
3.1	General	3
3.2	Basic Considerations in Determining Award Instrument	4
3.3	Questions to Determine Principal Purpose	4
3.4	Determining Whether to Issue a Grant or Cooperative Agreement	4
3.5	Nature of Awards	5
3.6	Organizational Conflict of Interest Policy	5
4.0	Limitations	5
5.0	Preaward	7
5.1	Competition	7
5.2	Competitive Awards	7
5.2.1	Synopses Requirements	7
5.2.2	Announcements	8
5.2.3	Proposals	8
5.2.4	Evaluation and Selection Documentation	8
5.2.5	Electronic Submission	10
5.3	Non-competitive Awards	10
5.3.1	Single-source Proposals	10
5.3.2	Unsolicited Proposals	11
5.3.3	Grant Renewals	12
5.4	Format and Numbering	13
5.5	NASA Catalogue Federal Domestic Assistance Structure	14
5.6	Length of Award	15
5.7	Funding	15
5.8	Review of Risk Associated with the Proposer	16
5.9	Budget Analysis	17
5.10	Terms and Conditions in Award Document	17
5.11	The Federal Procurement Data System	18
5.12	Distribution	18

6.0	Post-Award Procedures	19
6.1	Administration	19
6.1.1	Technical Review	19
6.1.2	Public Release of Scientific and Technical Information by NASA	19
6.2	Delegation of Administration	19
6.3	Change of Principal Investigator or Recipient Institution	21
6.4	Administrative Changes and Supplements.	22
6.5	Novations and Change-of-name Agreements	23
6.6	Approval of Property	23
6.7	Exempt Equipment	24
6.8	Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA of 2006)	24
6.9	Catalogue of Federal Domestic Assistance Numbers	24
6.10	Center Retention of Authority	25
7.0	Closeout Procedures	26
8.0	Appendix Exhibits	28
	oit AStandard Announcement Format for NASA Announcements of Grants erative Agreements	
Exhib	vit B – Waiver Request Process	42
Exhib	oit C – Additional Terms and Conditions	44
Exhib	vit D – Award Terms and Conditions	50
Exhib	vit E – Required Publications and Reports	51
Exhib	oit F - Guidance for the Preparation and Submission of Unsolicited Proposals	1
Exhib	oit G – Examples of Costs Categories from 2 CFR 200 Subpart E	20

# 1.0 Purpose

The National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) Grant and Cooperative Agreement Manual (GCAM) provides internal policy guidance to NASA Technical Officers and Grant Officers to implement government-wide and NASA-specific regulations for awarding and administering grants and cooperative agreements with educational and non-profit organizations; State, local, and Indian tribal governments; and for-profit entities when no cost-sharing is required. The government-wide regulations are set forth in the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 2 CFR 200 and are supplemented by NASA regulations provided in 2 CFR Part 1800.

#### 2.0 General

# 2.1 Relationship between the GCAM and the Federal Acquisition Regulation

The Federal Acquisition Regulation (FAR) and Federal procurement statutes do not apply to grants or cooperative agreements. Broad Agency Announcements (BAAs) are a type of solicitation that may result in the award of either a grant/cooperative agreement or a contract. Any solicitation that may result in a contract award is subject to the FAR. Solicitations that cannot result in the award of a contract are subject to the GCAM.

The NASA FAR Supplement (NFS) describes two types of BAAs: Announcements of Opportunity (AOs) and NASA Research Announcements (NRAs). AOs and NRAs may result in the award of contracts, cooperative agreements, and/or grants. In addition to Part 35 of the FAR, AOs are subject to NFS Part 1872, and NRAs are subject to NFS 1835.016-17.

Even if a BAA is subject to the FAR during the solicitation process, the GCAM applies when it is determined, after the receipt of proposals, that the resulting award will be a grant or cooperative agreement. If a BAA results in the award of a grant or cooperative agreement, then the Grant Officer must include the terms and conditions required by this Manual in the resulting award document, rather than the terms and conditions of the FAR and NFS.

Funding through a Cooperative Agreement Notice (CAN) is always done through a cooperative agreement. A CAN is used to solicit unique research programs and/or related activities that involve a relatively high degree of interaction and cooperation between NASA and the selected recipient(s) to achieve NASA's desired objectives (for example, to develop and operate a research institute, carry out an extensive educational/public outreach activity, or acquire a specified technology capability).

#### 2.2Acronyms

AOAnnouncement of Opportunity
AORAuthorized Organization Representative
BAABroad Agency Announcement
CANCooperative Agreement Notice
CASICenter for Aerospace Information
CFDACatalogue of Federal Domestic Assistance
CFOChief Financial Officer
CFRCode of Federal Regulations
CMM Contract Management Module

**DAADocument Availability Authorization** 

DCMADefense Contract Management Agency

DoDDepartment of Defense

DUNSDun and Bradstreet Universal Numbering System

**EPSElectronic Posting System** 

FAPIISFederal Awardee Performance and Integrity Information System

FAR Federal Acquisition Regulation

FGCAAFederal Grants and Cooperative Agreements Act

FIPS PUBFederal Information Processing Standards Publication

FPDS-NGFederal Procurement Data System-Next Generation

FFATAFederal Funding Accounting and Transparency Act

FFRFederal Financial Report

FSRSFederal Subaward Reporting System

GCAMGrant and Cooperative Agreement Manual

**GICGrant Information Circular** 

ICPMOInternal Central Printing Management Officer

**ISSInternational Space Station** 

ITARInternational Traffic and Arms Regulations

JAUPJustification for Acceptance of Unsolicited Proposals

JPLJet Propulsion Laboratory

JUNGJustification for Non-competitive Grants

MOAMemorandum of Agreement

NASANational Aeronautics and Space Administration

NAISNASA Acquisition Internet Service

NFS NASA FAR Supplement

NPRNASA Procedural Requirements

NSPIRESNASA Solicitation and Proposal Integrated Review and Evaluation System

NRA NASA Research Announcement

**NSSCNASA Shared Services Center** 

OCFOOffice of the Chief Financial Officer

OMBOffice of Management and Budget

ONROffice of Naval Research

PMRProcurement Management Review

PCSAProperty Control System Analyses

PCSRPlant Clearance System Reviews

RFPRequest for Proposal

RPPRResearch Performance Progress Report

SAMSystem for Award Management

**SPOCSingle Point of Contact** 

STIScientific and Technical Program

TASTreasury Account Symbol

#### 3.0 Choice of Award Instrument

#### 3.1 General

Determining choice of instrument is the first step needed to decide whether the GCAM applies. The Federal Grant and Cooperative Agreements Act of 1977 (FGCAA) was enacted to give agencies better understanding of the types of instruments executive agencies may award by characterizing the relationship between executive agencies and contractors, States, local governments, and other recipients in acquiring property and services and in providing U.S. Government assistance. The FGCAA characterizes instruments by defining the terms *procurement contract, grant,* and *cooperative agreement*.

The FGCCA defines a procurement contract as a legal instrument reflecting the relationship between the U.S. Government and a State, a local government, or other recipient when:

- 1. The principal purpose of the instrument is to acquire (by purchase, lease, or barter) property or services for the direct benefit or use of the U.S. Government or
- 2. The agency decides in a specific instance that the use of a procurement contract is appropriate.

The FGCCA defines a grant as a legal instrument reflecting a relationship between the U.S. Government and a State or local government or other recipient when:

- 1. The principal purpose of the relationship is to transfer a thing of value to the State or local government or other recipient to carry out a public purpose of support or stimulation authorized by a law of the United States instead of acquiring (by purchase, lease, or barter) property or services for the direct benefit or use of the U. S. Government; and
- 2. Substantial involvement is not expected between the executive agency and the State or local government or other recipient when carrying out the activity contemplated in the agreement.

The FGCCA defines a cooperative agreement as a legal instrument reflecting a relationship between the U.S. Government and a State or local government or other recipient when:

- 1. The principal purpose of the relationship is to transfer a thing of value to the State or local government or other recipient to carry out a public purpose of support or stimulation authorized by a law of the United States instead of acquiring (by purchase, lease, or barter) property or services for the direct benefit or use of the U.S. Government; and
- 2. Substantial involvement is expected between the executive agency and the State or local government or other recipient when carrying out the activity contemplated in the agreement.

Congress enacted the FGCAA because it was concerned about the perceived misuse of assistance agreements, specifically, using assistance agreements to circumvent competition and procurement rules. If the principal purpose of the funded activity is to provide something for the direct benefit or use of the Federal government, then a contract is the appropriate legal instrument to use. Grants and cooperative agreements, on the other hand, are considered a type of financial assistance because they support or stimulate a public purpose.

#### 3.2 Basic Considerations in Determining Award Instrument

The decision whether to use a contract, grant, or cooperative agreement as an award instrument must be based on the principal purpose of the relationship or arrangement. The type of business entity or non-profit organization shall not be a primary factor in determining the award instrument.

When NASA, within its authority, enters into a transaction in which the principal purpose is to accomplish a public purpose of support or stimulation authorized by Federal statute, a grant or a cooperative agreement is the appropriate instrument. Conversely, if the principal purpose of a transaction is to accomplish a NASA need, requirement, or service (in other words, to produce something for NASA use or to obtain a direct service for NASA use or benefit), a contract shall be used as the award instrument.

Two essential questions should be asked in determining the appropriate funding instrument. The first question is: Will NASA be directly harmed in furthering a specific NASA mission or program requirement if the research or project is not accomplished? The answer to this question must be "No."

The second question is: Is the work being performed by the recipient primarily for its own purposes, with NASA merely providing financial support or other assistance? The answer to this question must be "Yes." If these two criteria are met in the manner specified, the research or project effort is generally not representative of a NASA requirement, and then the consideration is whether it supports or stimulates a public purpose.

# 3.3 Questions to Determine Principal Purpose

The following are questions for the Benefit or Use Test:

- Is NASA the primary beneficiary or user of the activity?
- Is NASA providing the specifications for the project?
- Is NASA having the project completed based on its own identified needs?
- Does NASA require the delivery of tangible property at the completion of the activity?

The following are questions for the Support or Stimulation Test:

- Is the applicant performing the project for a public purpose?
- Is NASA merely supporting the project with financial or other assistance?
- Is the benefit to NASA incidental (in other words do funded activities complement NASA's mission)?

#### 3.4 Determining Whether to Issue a Grant or Cooperative Agreement

The distinguishing factor between a grant and a cooperative agreement is the degree of Federal participation or involvement during the performance of the work activities. Substantial involvement pertains to programmatic involvement rather than administrative oversight. Examples of substantial NASA involvement and contribution could include or involve:

- NASA plays an active role in collaborative relations;
- Government personnel, property, facilities, equipment, or research capabilities are used or shared;

- The recipient works for a substantial amount of time at a NASA Center or a NASA personnel works at the recipient's facility, provided the shared facility arrangements is at no cost to either party; or
- The collaboration serves to produce and/or enhance a jointly authored report or educational product.

Throughout this manual, the term "grant" includes "cooperative agreement" unless otherwise indicated.

#### 3.5 Nature of Awards

Although NASA's authority is not limited to research grants, typically NASA awards grants to support research and research related activities. Research-related activities may include education, travel, conferences, and training. Unless otherwise specified, performance will be assessed through the annual Research Performance Progress Report (RPPR).

# 3.6 Organizational Conflict of Interest Policy

Attending to the issues of conflict-of-interest, bias, and confidentiality is critical to ensuring the fairness and credibility of the proposal, evaluation, selection, award, and administration of Federal awards. Any actual or apparent conflicts of interest must be disclosed. Such a conflict would arise when the employee, officer, or agent, any member of his or her immediate family, his or her partner, or an organization which employs or is about to employ any of the parties, has a financial or other interest in a proposing organization. NASA has established policies and procedures to avoid, to the maximum extent practicable, conflicts of interests associated with Federal awards.

The recipient shall maintain written standards of conduct governing the performance of its employees engaged in the award and administration of contracts. The recipient may set standards for situations in which the financial interest is not substantial or the gift is an unsolicited item of nominal value. The standards of conduct shall provide for disciplinary actions to be applied for violations of such standards by officers, employees, or agents of the recipient.

#### 4.0 Limitations

- 1. NASA does not award grants to provide monetary donations to individuals, groups or institutions regardless of the purpose(s).
- 2. NASA ability to award grants and cooperative agreements is limited by appropriations available to carry out authorized Agency programs. Advice of NASA legal counsel will be sought in unusual situations.
- 3. Excess Government research property may be donated to educational institutions and non-profit organizations pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 3710(I), and such donation is not considered a grant. See § 2 CFR 200.312(b).
- 4. Loans of other Government property not associated with a contract, grant, or cooperative agreement under 31 U.S.C. 6301 to 6308, and made under the Space Act of 1958, are accomplished through separate NASA loan agreements that are neither grants or cooperative agreements.

- 5. Neither grants nor cooperative agreements shall be used as legal instruments for consulting services to NASA.
- 6. Grants and cooperative agreements shall not be used as legal instruments for facility design or construction services to NASA.
- 7. NASA grants and cooperative agreements are typically not used to fund, in full or in part, real property or general remodeling, construction, or demolition of a new or existing non-NASA building or any other type of facility—including exterior spaces. This limitation does not prevent eligible recipients (such as research and/or education organizations, non-profit museums and/or planetariums, parks, etc.) from using funds from a NASA grant or cooperative agreement to acquire equipment production or to enhance, establish, and/or replace permanent NASA-related exhibits with total costs in excess of \$5,000. This limitation also does not prevent recipients from using funds from grants or cooperative agreements for the design, fabrication (commonly called construction), delivery, and/or installation for a NASA-related-permanent exhibit; for installation and/or operation of fixed or permanent planetarium equipment; for outdoor exhibits such as solar system walks or Mars Rover yards; or for the delivery, installation, operation, and/or maintenance of permanent, large research equipment.
- 8. Requesting an exception to facility, real estate, real property or construction limitations: it is unlikely that an award to create or enhance a facility or to purchase real estate or property will be approved unless specifically authorized by Congress. A review by Center legal counsel to assure legal sufficiency is required. When legal authority exists for a non-NASA entity to receive a grant or cooperative agreement for the design or construction of a NASA or non-NASA facility, the NASA Center must submit a proposal to the Program Operations Division (or any successor organizational unit) in the Office of Procurement at Headquarters that at minimum includes:
  - a.Copy and full citation of the Congressional Authorization that names the recipient b.Dollar value
  - c.Organization identifiers are required for all NASA awards, such as, but not limited to, name, address, and contact information of the recipient.
  - d.The request package should state that a proposal has been received, accepted by the NASA Center as adequate for evaluation, evaluated, and determined suitable for funding.
  - e. A proposal that is adequate for evaluation shall include, at a minimum, a reasonable description of the work to be performed and its technical objectives, a description of the resources needed, and an adequate justification of the proposed budget.
  - f.The evaluation shall be conducted following the procedures in Section 2 CFR 200.204 and 205. The standards for determining that a proposal is suitable for funding are technical soundness and cost reasonableness and realism.
  - g. The request package shall include a copy of the proposal and the technical and cost evaluations.
  - h.In addition, the proposal should be reviewed by Center facilities, environmental and historical preservation specialists to ensure compliance with the National Environmental Protection Act and the National Historic Preservation Act, and their findings should be included in the request package.

#### 5.0 Preaward

#### **5.1 Competition**

Consistent with the FGCAA, competition is encouraged in the award process for making grants and cooperative agreements. Grants and cooperative agreements are classified in two major categories: discretionary and non-discretionary. Discretionary awards are those for which the Agency may issue a competitive solicitation to determine the recipient and the amount of the award. Generally, such awards are made using merit-based peer or scientific reviews following the procedures in 2 CFR 200 as supplemented by the NASA at 2 CFR, subtitle B, Chapter XVIII. Non-discretionary awards typically are those actions that NASA is required to award to a specific recipient in accordance with Congressional direction, either through earmarked funds or appropriations acts.

NASA may award grants or cooperative agreements using three different methods: awarded on a competitive basis; awarded on a single-source basis; or awarded on the basis of an unsolicited proposal. Although competitive awards are encouraged when practicable, NASA has the authority to make awards on a non-competitive basis from single-source proposals and unsolicited proposals. The difference between single-source proposals and unsolicited proposals is that the Agency solicits proposals in single-source awards from only one recipient but does not solicit proposals when an award is based on an unsolicited proposal.

#### **5.2** Competitive Awards

#### **5.2.1Synopses Requirements**

- 1. All announcements of grant and cooperative agreement funding opportunities shall be synopsized using the standard set of data elements (enclosed), prescribed by the Office of Management and Budget (OMB). The synopsis shall be prepared in the NASA Acquisition Internet Service (NAIS), located <a href="here">here</a>; by using the Electronic Posting System (EPS). The EPS has been revised to incorporate additional data elements required for Grants.gov. Depending on user input, the EPS will transmit announcements to Grants.gov, to FedBizOpps (the procurement site for announcements), or to both sites. Synopses shall be electronically posted to: <a href="http://www.Grants.gov">http://www.Grants.gov</a>, no later than 3 business days after release of the full announcement.
- 2. All competitive solicitations that can result in the award of a grant or cooperative agreement shall be posted on the NASA Solicitation and Proposal Integrated Review and Evaluation System (NSPIRES). Procurement offices shall notify program offices issuing solicitations of the requirement to use NSPIRES. Those posting solicitations on NSPIRES shall register for an account at <a href="https://i-nspires.nasaprs.com/internal/index.faces">https://i-nspires.nasaprs.com/internal/index.faces</a>. Instructions for using NSPIRES will be available through user desk guides at <a href="https://i-nspires.nasaprs.com/tutorials/">https://i-nspires.nasaprs.com/tutorials/</a>. If additional help is needed, the NSPIRES Help Desk can be contacted at (202) 479-9376, or by email at <a href="masaprs.com">nspires-help@nasaprs.com</a>.
- This requirement applies to all announcements of grant and cooperative agreement funding opportunities with the following exceptions:

- a. Announcements of opportunities for awards less than \$25,000 for which 100 percent of eligible applicants live outside of the United States.
- b. Single-source announcements of opportunities that are specifically directed to a known recipient.

#### **5.2.2** Announcements

Grant Officers shall use the solicitation numbering scheme stated in NFS 1804.7102 for grant and cooperative agreement announcements. For competitive grants, Grant Officers must announce specific funding opportunities. The announcement shall include the information specified under 2 CFR 200.203.

# **5.2.3 Proposals**

- 1. For standard proposal format, Grant Officers should refer to the Proposers Guidebook located at URL: <a href="http://www.hq.nasa.gov/office/procurement/nraguidebook/">http://www.hq.nasa.gov/office/procurement/nraguidebook/</a>
- 2. NASA may accept cost-sharing when voluntarily offered. For grants and cooperative agreements with commercial organizations that require cost-sharing, Grant Officers should refer to 14 CFR Part 1274.
- 3. Proposals for efforts that involve printing, binding, and duplicating in excess of 25,000 pages are subject to the Government Printing and Binding Regulations, No. 26, February 1990, S. Pub. 101-9, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC 20402, published by the Congressional Joint Committee on Printing. The technical office will refer such proposals to the Installation Central Printing Management Officer (ICPMO). The Grant Officer will be advised in writing of the results of the ICPMO review.

# **5.2.4** Evaluation and Selection Documentation

- 1. The Technical cognizant office is responsible for the technical evaluation, which may be based on peer review. The Technical cognizant office must provide to the Grant Officer a completed selection package as outlined in paragraph (b). Note: documentation and grant files can be maintained in an electronic format. Grant Officers should refer to the Guidebook for Proposers for more detailed information located at <a href="http://www.hq.nasa.gov/office/procurement/nraguidebook/">http://www.hq.nasa.gov/office/procurement/nraguidebook/</a>.
- 2. Under NRAs, AOs, BAAs, and CANs, the selecting official will furnish to the Grant Officer the documentation listed below. This package should be submitted to the grant office at least 29 calendar days prior to the requested award date, or before the expiration of the funded period in the case of the renewal of an existing effort.
  - a.A copy of the NRA, AO, BAA, or CAN or as requested just a copy of the front page of the NRA, AO, BAA, or CAN to confirm the award is made as a result of a selection under a NRA, AO, BAA, or CAN.
  - b.A copy of the proposals selected for award to include budget justification.
  - c.A copy of the selection statement and technical or peer evaluation document.
  - d.Funded procurement request, any other support documentation required for the specific award, such as protocol for animal testing, and any data deliverables that may be required when potentially hazardous operations, such as those related to flight and/or

- mission critical ground systems, have been proposed (e.g., Payload Safety Data Review Package).
- 3. If sub-recipients are stated in a proposal that has been selected for award through a competitive announcement, a separate award may be made to the proposed sub-recipients when NASA deems appropriate. Such grants are considered to be competed. The competitive announcement cover page, prime proposal, and its corresponding technical evaluation may be used to satisfy file documentation requirements for the sub-recipient grant.
- 4. For an unsolicited proposal, the technical office should submit a completed NF 884 and a justification for acceptance of an unsolicited proposal requesting financial assistance. For a single-source proposal, the technical office should submit a copy of the approved justification. (See 5.3.1 Single-source proposal and 5.3.2 Unsolicited Proposals). Sample formats of the justifications are contained in Exhibit A.
- 5. The evaluation of the proposal budget will conform to the following procedure:
  - a. The Technical Officer will review the proposer's estimated cost for conformance to program requirements and fund availability. New budgets are not required when the program office recommended funding is within twenty (20) percent of the proposed amount, provided that, if requested by the proposer, a revised scope-of-work based on the recommended funding is submitted by the proposer for acceptance by the Technical Officer. However, when funding decreases in equipment and/or subcontracts are involved, the cognizant program office is required to identify the cost element(s) affected by the change in funding level.
  - b.The Grant Officer will review the budget and any changes made by the Technical Officer to identify any item that may be unallowable under the cost principles, or that appears unreasonable or unnecessary. Requests for details from the recipient should be limited to the minimum necessary to conduct the review.
  - c.The Grant Officer will address requests for direct charge of equipment in the negotiation summary, and state whether the purchase is approved as a direct cost.
- 6. If a proposal is not selected, the proposer will be notified by the selecting official in accordance with the procedures set forth in the NRA, AO, CAN, or BAA.
- 7. Analysis of Offeror's Cost Proposals for Cooperative Agreements with Commercial Firms. An analysis shall be performed using proposal analysis techniques found at FAR 15.404-1, as appropriate, for cooperative agreements with commercial firms in which the recipient does not share at least 50 percent of the cost or the total value of the agreement is greater than \$5 million.
- 8. Analysis of the budget shall be documented and maintained in the grant file.

Grant renewals provide for continuation of research beyond the original scope, period of performance and funding levels; therefore, new proposals, certifications and technical evaluations are required prior to the execution of a grant renewal. Grant renewals will be awarded as new grants. Continued performance within a period specified under the Multiple Year Grant terms and conditions does not constitute a renewal. For research originally awarded through a competitive NRA, CAN, or other competitive announcement that has completed its period of performance, peer review of a proposal to continue the research should be accomplished prior to selecting the research grant for renewal. Renewals of such awards are considered competed. If the effort was

originally awarded through an unsolicited proposal, a new justification to accept the unsolicited proposal would be required. Multiple-year grant term and conditions may be incorporated into renewals.

#### 5.2.5 Electronic Submission

NASA discretionary grant applications must be submitted electronically, as instructed in the funding announcement. NASA will not accept other types of application submission, except when a waiver of this requirement is approved by the NASA point of contact listed in the funding announcement. The process for applying for a waiver is described in Exhibit B.

# **5.3 Non-competitive Awards**

# **5.3.1Single-source Proposals**

- 1. Single-source proposals for grants and cooperative agreements are applications for financial assistance for support of an idea, method, or approach to carry out a project for a public purpose that is relevant to NASA's Mission. Single-source proposals are submitted in response to a cognizant technical office's request made only to the proposing organization. A single-source proposal must not resemble the substance of a current or pending competitive NASA solicitation and should include sufficient technical and cost detail to persuade NASA that the project represents a worthwhile approach to satisfy the criteria below:
  - a. The proposing organization has unique qualifications or
  - b.The circumstances surrounding the proposed project necessitate the use of a non-competitive grant or cooperative agreement award.
- 2. Peer review of proposals is always preferred. All single-source proposals will be thoroughly reviewed by NASA before award. Proposals exceeding the Simplified Acquisition Threshold must be evaluated by at least three peer reviewers. Due regard for conflicts of interest and protection of proposal information is always part of the process.
- 3. In support of the selection of a single-source proposal, the NASA cognizant technical office shall prepare a written Justification for a Single-source Grant or Cooperative Agreement that thoroughly addresses the following items:
  - a. Specific identification of the document as a "Justification for a Single-source Grant or Cooperative Agreement Action
  - b.Identification of the NASA funding sponsor
  - c.Identification of the intended recipient (to include the legal name of the institution, entity, or individual; the name of the principal investigator; and the recipient's address).
  - d.A concise description of the proposed project.
  - e.Total anticipated project budget
  - f.Period of performance
  - g.A statement as to whether this is a new project or a continuation of an existing project.
  - h.A demonstration that (1) the proposed recipient's unique qualifications or (2) the circumstances surrounding the proposed project necessitate the use of a non-competitive grant or cooperative agreement award.

- i. The NASA Technical Officer's certification and signature stating that the justification is accurate and complete to the best of their knowledge and belief.
- j.Concurring signature can be at a level above the Technical Officer. However, this concurring signature is not required for individuals at a division chief or higher level, or those who have been designated as a selecting official.

Each single-source grant or cooperative agreement action shall also be subject to the policies, procedures, concurrences, and/or approvals established by the NASA funding sponsor's organization and/or Center.

#### **5.3.2 Unsolicited Proposals**

- 1. Unsolicited proposals for grants and cooperative agreements are applications for financial assistance for support of an idea, method, or approach to carry out a project for a public purpose that is relevant to NASA's Mission. Unsolicited proposals are not submitted in response to a formal or informal NASA solicitation. Offerors considering preparing an unsolicited proposal should refer to NASA's <u>Guidance for the Preparation and Submission of Unsolicited Proposals</u>.
- 2. Circumstances for return without review:
  - a. NASA may return without review any unsolicited proposal that are within the scope of a current solicitation or one that is planned for the near future. Before expending effort preparing a proposal potential proposers should review the solicitations at <a href="http://solicitation.nasaprs.com/">http://solicitation.nasaprs.com/</a>open to determine whether there is a solicitation to which the proposal could have been submitted.
  - b. NASA also will return without review any proposal that is not relevant. Before expending effort preparing a proposal potential proposers should review the current version of the NASA Strategic Plan and documents from the specific directorate, office, or program within NASA (e.g., <a href="the Science Plan">the Science Plan</a>, <a href="Space Technology Roadmaps">Space Technology Roadmaps</a>) to determine if the work planned is sufficiently relevant and closely related to current goals to warrant a formal submission.
  - c. NASA may return without review any unsolicited proposal that does not contain adequate detail to evaluate the criteria below in section 4.
- 3. NASA may accept an unsolicited proposal only if it meets all of the following criteria (see the Guidebook for Proposers, Section C.2 Evaluation Criteria):
  - a.Is of high scientific and/or technical merit
  - b.Is relevant to NASA
  - c. The proposed costs are reasonable and realistic.
  - d.Proposer could not have submitted a responsive proposal to a current or pending competitive NASA solicitation, see paragraph 2.
  - e. Any unsolicited proposal must contain adequate detail to evaluate the criteria below.
- 4. Submission of unsolicited proposals
  - a.All unsolicited proposals will be submitted through the NASA Solicitation and Proposal Integrated Review and Evaluation System (NSPIRES) to the unsolicited proposal response structure found at <a href="http://solicitation.nasaprs.com/open">http://solicitation.nasaprs.com/open</a>. See also Exhibit F,

- NASA Guidance for the Preparation and Submission of Unsolicited Proposals for Financial Assistance.
- b.NASA Headquarters and each NASA field installation shall designate at least one point of contact for receiving and coordinating the handling and evaluation of unsolicited proposals. NASA will not accept for formal evaluation unsolicited proposals initially submitted to another agency or to the Jet Propulsion Laboratory (JPL) without the offeror's express consent.
- c.Each Center shall establish procedures for handling proposals initially received through NSPIRES. Points of contact are also responsible for providing guidance to potential offerors regarding the appropriate NASA officials to contact for general mission-related inquiries or other pre-proposal discussions.
- 5. Evaluation of unsolicited proposals
  - a. Peer review of proposals is always preferred and it is required as described in paragraph 2 in Section 5.3.1.
  - b. Any proposal considered for funding must be evaluated based on the criteria given in paragraph 3. In Section 5.3.2.
- 6. Selection or Declination of Unsolicited Proposals
  - a. The decision to fund or not fund an unsolicited proposal is made by the selecting official based on the recommendation of NASA technical personnel.
  - b.If an unsolicited proposal is selected for funding a justification should be provided by the program office that thoroughly addresses the criteria in Section 5.3.1 (paragraph 2) and the circumstances surrounding the proposed project that necessitate the use of a non-competitive grant or cooperative agreement award.
  - c.Concurrence on the justification is as given in Section 5.3.1 (paragraph 3).
- 7. Whether an unsolicited proposal is selected or declined, NASA will notify in writing the proposer of the decision in a timely manner. Whenever practicable the evaluations that formed the basis of the decision, or a summary of those evaluations, should be provided to the proposer in writing. Notifications will be made and evaluations should be provided via NSPIRES, but may also be communicated by other methods.

#### **5.3.3** Grant and Cooperative Agreement Renewals

- 1. Renewals are new non-competitive awards that provide for continuation of successful currently supported projects beyond the original period of performance and funding levels.
  - a.Renewals support the same work, or work that is a natural extension of and closely related to current work, not for new projects unrelated to the predecessor award.
  - b.Renewals differ from extensions, as described in Section 6.4 Administrative Changes and Supplements, since renewals are new awards. Continuation within the original period specified under a Multiple Year Grant or Cooperative Agreement does not constitute a renewal.
  - c.Renewals generally are longer duration awards, as opposed to shorter term lengthening of existing work, which can be achieved through extensions described in Section 6.4 Administrative Changes and Supplements.

- d.The start date of the renewal award should be instituted concurrent with the original expiration date so that the support is continuous and there is no break in funding. As new proposals, certifications, and technical evaluations are required prior to the execution of a renewal.
- 2. Renewals will be justified as single-source proposals as described in 5.3.1, with the following exceptions:
  - a. For awards that derived from previously solicited competed proposals, the requirements for justification are:
    - i. A determination that the work is still meritorious.
    - ii. A determination that the work is still relevant.
    - iii. A determination that the costs are reasonable and realistic.
    - iv. An explanation of why the work should be renewed rather than recompeted, e.g., relating to long-term continuity.
    - v. This type of justification may only be used once to renew grants that have been previously competed.
  - b. Renewals of efforts that have been previously competed may resemble the substance of a current or pending competitive NASA solicitation. However, renewals of efforts that have not been previously competed cannot resemble the substance of a current or pending competitive NASA solicitation.
  - c. Renewals of previously non-competitive awards must satisfy the requirements in 5.3.1 and 5.3.2. In addition, these justifications must address: (1) why the renewal is necessary, and (2) why, if NASA decided to support the work previously, the work was not subsequently incorporated into a solicitation.
  - d. Higher scrutiny will be given when an effort is renewed more than one time.

#### **5.4 Format and Numbering**

- 1. NASA Form 1687 is the cover page for all grants. Terms and Conditions for grants with U.S. organizations shall be incorporated by reference. Full text of the terms and conditions are located at 2 CFR 1800 Appendix B. Terms and conditions for grants with foreign organizations will be printed in full text. An acceptance block may be added when the Grant Officer finds it necessary to require bilateral execution of the grant. Program budgets are not generally attached to the award document. When it is necessary to attach the budget due to revisions to the original proposed budget or other reasons, this information should be suitably marked as confidential, and is not to be disclosed outside the Government without the consent of the grantee.
- 2. Grants and cooperative agreements will be sequentially numbered. The Identification Numbering System to be used for all types of NASA grants and cooperative agreements will be applied as follows:
  - a. Agency prefix. NASA's agency prefix shall be represented by the characters "NN".
  - b. <u>Center</u>. The Center Identification Number shall conform to NASA FAR Supplement (NFS) 48 CFR 1804.7102(a).
  - c. Fiscal year. The fiscal year shall be represented as two digits.
  - d. Action number. The action number shall be identified using a two digit alpha and two digit numerical character from AA01 through ZZ99.

- e. <u>Procurement code</u>. Cooperative Agreements will be identified using "A" as the procurement code. Grants (other than training grants) will be identified using "G" as the procurement code. Training Grants will be identified using "H" as the procurement code.
- f.As an example of the above set forth methodology, the first two training grants awarded by Glenn Research Center in Fiscal Year 2004 would be NNC04AA01H and NNC04AA02H.

# **5.5NASA Catalogue Federal Domestic Assistance Structure**

TITLE	TREASURY ACCOUNT SYMBOL	CFDA NUMBER
Science	80 0120	43.001
Aeronautics	80 0126	43.002
Exploration	80 0124	43.003
Aeronautics, Recovery Act	80 0125	43.004
Exploration, Recovery Act	80 0123	43.005
Science, Recovery Act	80 0119	43.006
Space Operations	80 0115	43.007
Education	80 0128	43.008
Cross Agency Support	80 0122	43.009
Construction and Environmental Compliance & Remediation	80 0130	43.010
Office of Inspector General	80 0109	43.011
STMD	80 0130	43.012

Grant officers and/or sponsoring organizations shall enter the applicable Agency Catalogue Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) number, as set forth in the CFDA/Treasury Account Symbol (TAS) cross-walk table provided herein, when creating NAIS/Electronic Posting System (EPS) pre-award synopses/BAAs for all new grant or cooperative agreement funding opportunities on Grants.gov, through the NASA Acquisition Internet Service (NAIS)/EPS. For all new BAAs that may result in the award of a grant or cooperative agreement on or after the effective date of this Grant Information Circular (GIC), the sponsoring organization shall post the applicable Agency CFDA number in the Grants.gov synopsis for that particular announcement. Some BAAs can result in the award of a grant, cooperative agreement, or contract; however, CFDA is not applicable to NASA contracts. Therefore, if the BAA results in the award of a contract, the CFDA number will not be used post award. If more than one funds source/CFDA number is associated with the action, the CFDA number associated with the highest percentage funds source should be cited. NOTE: CFDA numbers "00.000" and "43.AAA" are no longer valid data entries for NASA synopses/BAAs.

# 5.6 Length of Award

Period of performance: Typically the duration of an award does not exceed 5 years unless otherwise specified by a program unique policies and procedures. However, grants that will exceed \$5 million and have a period of performance in excess of 5 years shall require the approval of the Assistant Administrator for Procurement prior to award. Requests for approval are not required when the 5-year limitation is exceeded due to a no-cost extension.

- 1. Grants with periods of performance in excess of 5 years may be appropriate when the NASA technical office determines at the inception of the grant that a longer period of performance would be in the interest of NASA and more conducive to the effort. Requests for approval shall include a justification for exceeding 5 years and evidence that the extended years can be reasonably estimated. Awards exceeding 5 (funded) years in duration shall also be subject to the policies, procedures, concurrences, and/or approvals established by the NASA funding sponsor's organization and/or Center.
  - a. If the decision to provide multiple year funding to a proposal is made, the terms and conditions at 2 CFR 1800.992, Appendix B, Multiple Year Grant or Cooperative Agreement, will be included in the award.
  - b. Periods approved under the Multiple Year Grant or Cooperative Agreement term and condition and funded at the levels specified in the term are not considered to be new awards. Therefore, new proposals, new proposal certifications, new technical evaluations and new budget proposals are not required. However, certifications will be required if necessary to implement new restrictions in appropriations that were not in existence at the time of the original award.
  - c. If NASA program constraints or developments within the project dictate a reduction in the funding level specified under a Multiple Year Grant period, work may continue at the reduced level under the terms and conditions; however, the recipient may rebudget under the grant terms and conditions to keep the project within the funding actually provided.

#### 5.7 Funding

- 1. NASA may support a grant as outlined in the proposal budget, or may offer to fund only selected tasks, or all tasks for a shorter duration (e.g., a one year pilot study) or a combination.
- 2. For multiyear awards NASA may provide support in increments (e.g., by fiscal year to diminish uncosted carryover) or may provide support for more than one year or provide support for the total award in advance.
- 3. Regarding incremental funding:
  - a. When funding incrementally by fiscal year, NASA should provide at least one month of funding from the prior fiscal year that carries into the subsequent fiscal year.
  - b. NASA should minimize incremental funding actions; small increments (<\$25K) should be avoided when practical.
  - c. The provision 2 CFR 1800.923, Incremental Funding, will be included in any grant that is incrementally funded. The Grant Officer will determine the number of incremental funding actions that will be allowed.

- 4. For awards funded in advance for future years, progress reports are still required and shall be reviewed by the NASA point of contact. Grant Officers should be aware that funds may expire and will no longer be available to grantees at the end of long awards (31 USC §1552). If the effect is to provide a guaranteed customer base for new commercial space hardware or services, 51 U.S.C. 30301 prohibits NASA from funding a grant for longer than one year. The only exception is if an Appropriations Act specifies the new commercial space hardware or services to be used.
- 5. While NASA normally provides full funding support for research grants, alternate methods of grant funding are as follows:
  - a. Since NASA grant recipients usually gain no measurable commercial or economic benefit from grants, other than conducting research, cost sharing for research grants is not generally required. NASA may, however, accept cost sharing when voluntarily offered. Additionally, in instances when the Grant Officer determines that the recipient will benefit from the research results through sales to non-Federal entities, cost sharing based upon this mutuality of interest will apply. When cost sharing is used, the Grant Officer shall insert a term substantially as shown in 2 CFR 1800.924, Cost Sharing. (See 14 CFR Part 1274.204 (b) for grants and cooperative agreements with commercial organizations involving cost sharing.)
  - b. NASA may provide partial support for a research project or conference where additional funding is being provided by other Federal agencies. If the grant also involves cost sharing by the recipient, the Grant Officer will ensure that the recipient's share does not include any Federal funds.

#### 5.8 Review of Risk Associated with the Proposer

The Grant Officer will conduct a pre-award review of risk associated with the proposer as required by 2 CFR 200.205. For all proposals selected for award, the Grant Officer will review the submitting organization's information available through the Federal Awardee Performance and Integrity Information System (FAPIIS) and the System for Award Management (SAM) to include checks on entity core data, registration expiration date, active exclusions, and delinquent federal debt.

In addition to the FAPIIS and SAM information, the review of risk associated with the proposer will also consider the technical/peer evaluation based on the selection criteria contained in the announcement. Further risk review may be conducted at the discretion of the Grant Officer for applications over the Simplified Acquisition Threshold when an OMB repository indicates that:

- 1. An applicant is not low risk,
- 2. The applicant is not known to the grants officer, or
- 3. The applicant has not received a previous Federal award from NASA.

In such situations, the Grant Officer also may evaluate the organization's financial stability, history of performance if available, and/or audit reports and findings. When appropriate, the Grant Officer may add specific conditions to the award document that correspond to the assessed risk.

# 5.9 Budget Analysis

The recipient institution is responsible for ensuring that costs charged are allowable, allocable, and reasonable under their applicable cost principles set out in 2 CFR 200 for education organizations, non-profit organizations, state governments, local governments and tribal governments and FAR Subpart 31 for commercial firms. Grant officers will conduct and document a budget analysis of the proposed work. The purpose of the analysis is to determine that all proposed costs are allowable, allocable, and reasonable under the applicable cost principles either in 2 CFR 200 or FAR Subpart 31. Proposals for multiple year grants shall describe the entire research project and include a complete budget for year one, separate estimates for each subsequent year, and cumulative budget for the entire period. Recipient should submit proposal budgets and detail in accordance with Proposer's Guidebook (<a href="http://www.hq.nasa.gov/office/procurement/nraguidebook/">http://www.hq.nasa.gov/office/procurement/nraguidebook/</a>). This should minimize requests for detail from the recipient. An Example of different cost categories from 2 CFR 200 Subpart E may be found in Exhibit G. During the analysis, the grant officer should review any recommendations for or changes made to the proposed budget by the technical officer.

NASA does not allow the payment for profit or fee to commercial firms through grant awards.

When the use of vehicles is determined necessary to accomplish the proposed work, the vehicles should be leased from a non-Federal entity.

#### **5.10 Terms and Conditions in Award Document**

- 1. Unless otherwise specified, the terms and conditions at 2 CFR 1800.900 to 1800.920 apply to all grants and any cooperative agreements issued under 2 CFR Part 1800 to educational institutions and non-profit organizations. Additionally, the following requirements apply to all grants:
  - a.2 CFR Part 170, Reporting Subaward and Executive Compensation Information;
  - b.2 CFR Part 175, Award Term for Trafficking in Persons; and
  - c.2 CFR 182, Government-wide requirements for Drug-Free Workplace.

The grant officer shall reference these terms and conditions and requirements by including the following statement in all award documents: Unless otherwise specified, the terms and conditions in 2 CFR 1800 to 1800.920 and the requirements in 2 CFR 170, 175, and 182 apply and are incorporated by reference.

- 2. The grant officer shall also indicate other terms and conditions from 2 CFR Part 1800 that apply by including the provision's number and name in the award document.
- 3. The grant officer must include any provision in full text in the award document if
  - a. The provision is different from that, is referenced in 2 CFR Part 1800 or Exhibit D, e.g., is on a "substantially as" basis, or
  - b. The provision is programmatic or special condition required for the specific grant.
  - c. The grant officer determines it is appropriate to include a provision in full text.
- 4. For grants to foreign institutions, the following terms and conditions must be developed with the assistance of legal:
  - a. Payment to foreign organizations
  - b.Customs clearance and visas

- c.Taxes
- d.Exchange of technical data and goods
- e.Choice of Law

In addition, the other terms and conditions in the 2 CFR Part 1800 must be examined to determine whether they should be modified; for example, 2 CFR 1800.927 Invention Reporting and Rights.

- 5. Grant officers shall also include the following terms and conditions when applicable:
  - a. Cross-Waiver of Liability for International Space Station Activities
  - b.B Cross-Waiver of Liability for Science or Space Exploration Activities Unrelated to the International Space Station
  - c.Personal identity verification of recipient personnel
  - d.Restrictions on the Use of the NASA Seal, Insignia, Logotype, Program Identifiers, or Flags

Exhibit C contains the text of these terms and conditions and prescribes when these terms and conditions apply.

# 5.11 The Federal Procurement Data System

Grant officers or their delegates are required to enter all grant and cooperative agreement awards and all supplements into the Federal Procurement Data System (FPDS) in accordance with the highlighted data fields on the input screen. When completing the description field, the e-Government Act requires Federal agencies to provide a "meaningful" description of the research or project being funded. For this guidance, a meaningful description is one that sufficiently demonstrates the general purpose or nature of the NASA-sponsored research or project. In addition, Grant Officers or their delegates are required to complete the following FPDS data fields:

- Field of Science or Engineering
- Principal Investigator
- Installation Unique The Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) number shall be entered in the 'Installation Unique' field. For every grant and cooperative agreement award, there must be a corresponding NASA CFDA number identified; a null value is not a valid option

#### 5.12 Distribution

- 1. Distribution may be done electronically
- 2. Copies of grants and supplements should be provided to:
  - a. Payment offices (original copy)
  - b. Technical officers
  - c.Administrative Grant Officers if delegated
  - d.NASA Scientific and Technical Program (STI) Program; and
  - e.Other appropriate offices as determined by the Grant Officer
- 3. In addition to receipt of grants and supplements, the administrative Grant Officer will receive a copy of the approved budget.
- 4. The file will record the addresses for distribution.

#### **6.0Post-Award Procedures**

#### **6.1 Administration**

#### 6.1.1Technical Review

The Technical Officer is responsible for the review of all technical reports required to be delivered under the grant or cooperative agreement. See Publications and Reports, Exhibit E. If the review indicates satisfactory technical performance, the award continues and the Technical Officer releases the next increment of funds if required by the grant. If the review indicates technical performance is unsatisfactory, NASA must communicate with the recipient. Subsequent actions may include:

- 1. Redefinition of research
- 2. Recommend the Grant Officer add specific conditions in accordance with 2 CFR 200.207
- 3. Recommend future increments not be provided to the recipient in accordance with 2 CFR 1800 Incremental Funding clause
- 4. Recommend remedies up to and including termination of the award in accordance with 2 CFR 200.338 and 339

#### 6.1.2 Public Release of Scientific and Technical Information (STI) by NASA

- 1. The Technical Officer must obtain Document Availability Authorization (DAA) before STI can be:
  - a. Publicly released by NASA,
  - b. Publicly released at the direction of NASA, or
  - c.Presented by NASA or at the direction of NASA any event at which foreign nationals may be present.
  - The Center STI/Publication Manager shall forward the approved STI and a copy of the approved DAA form to CASI and notify the Technical Officer.
- 2. Centers shall establish procedures for notifying the grantee or cooperative agreement recipient if and when the STI has been approved for publication by NASA. Generally, this notification is provided by the office responsible for approval of the DAA or the Center STI/Publication Manager.
- 3. DAA is not required from grantee or cooperative agreement recipients for release of information (such as presentations, publications, reports, webpages, etc.) unless specified in the terms and conditions of the award. Of course, the recipient is required to follow statutes and regulations on export control when releasing information.

# **6.2 Delegation of Administration**

1. The Grant Officer retains the grant administration functions at NASA except: (1) when a grant or cooperative agreement is awarded with Government-furnished property; (2) when the government retains title to recipient acquired property; or (3) as set forth in paragraphs 2 and 3 below.

- 2. When the grant or cooperative agreement is awarded with Government-furnished or recipient acquired Government property, the Grant Officer must delegate the Property Administration Function to:
  - a. Office of Naval Research (ONR) for grants to educational institutions and non-profit organizations;
  - b. Defense Contract Management Agency (DCMA) for grants to commercial firms.
- 3. The Grant Officer has the discretion to delegate grant or cooperative agreement administration to ONR or DCMA whenever exceptional administrative issues are anticipated. Grant officers cannot exercise this discretion for:
  - a. Training grants
  - b.Grant of short duration (9 months or less) or low dollar value (\$50K or less).
- 4. Delegation of grant administration either to DCMA or ONR should be made by use of NF 1674 (<a href="https://nef.nasa.gov/">https://nef.nasa.gov/</a>). The type of administrative functions that are delegated should be consistent with the memoranda of understanding (MOAs) between NASA and DCMA and between NASA and ONR. Examples of administration functions delegated for previous awards include:
  - a. Property administration and plant clearance system reviews (PCSRs) and Property Control System Analyses (PCSAs)
  - b. Quality Assurance, Engineering Support and Safety Engineering
  - c. Audit of incurred costs
  - d. NASA Cognizant Agency function of negotiation and approval of indirect rates
- 5. The ONR services available to NASA for delegation under grants and cooperative agreements are listed in the NASA/ONR MOA. This MOA can be found in the NASA Procurement Library.
- 6. When administration duties have been assigned to ONR or DCMA, the NF 1674, the award document, supplements, and any relevant property documentation and the approved budget will be sent to ONR or DCMA in a single package (electronically, when possible).
- 7. Upon acceptance of a delegation, ONR or DCMA agrees to the following: ONR or DCMA shall follow Department of Defense (DoD) property administration policies and procedures, as well as the following NASA requirements:
  - a. The recipient shall maintain property records and manage non-expendable personal property in accordance with 2 CFR 200. During PCSA, ONR, or DCMA will check the recipient's understanding and test compliance of property management requirements, including the accuracy of recipient property reports. ONR or DCMA will provide one copy of each PCSA Report to the appropriate NASA center industrial property officer.
  - b. ONR or DCMA will investigate and notify NASA as appropriate for any unauthorized property acquisitions by the recipient. See the provision at 2 CFR 1800.907.
  - c. ONR or DCMA will notify the cognizant Grant Officer and industrial policy officer when property is lost, damaged or destroyed.

- d. Under no circumstances will Government property be disposed without instructions from NASA.
- e. Before disposition, except when returned to NASA or reutilized on other NASA programs, ONR or DCMA will ensure all NASA identifications are removed or obliterated from property, and computer hard drives are cleared of sensitive or NASA owned/licensed software/data.

#### 6.3 Change of Principal Investigator or Recipient Institution

- 1. When a principal investigator changes organizational affiliation, the current recipient institution is given an opportunity to find a replacement. The final decision on whether an acceptable replacement is available, or that the research effort should follow the original principal investigator to the new location, is at the discretion of the NASA technical Officer. Grant Officers should process a potential change of principal investigator as follows:
  - a. If the decision is made that the grant will not follow the PI to the new institution, and the current institution does not recommend a substitute for NASA approval, the grant with the current institution is ended by mutual consent or, if necessary, unilaterally by the Grant Officer.
  - b. If the decision is made that the grant will not follow the PI to the new institution, and the current recipient institution does recommend for NASA approval a new PI, the Grant Officer will seek concurrence/non-concurrence from the Technical Officer. The current recipient should provide a PI Vitae and any other documentation that might aid in the evaluation of the new PI submission by NASA. Upon Technical Officer concurrence of the recommendation, the Grant Officer may initiate a supplement to change the PI. If the Technical Officer does not concur with a recommended new PI and the grant will not follow the PI to the new institution, then the grant with the current institution may be ended by mutual consent or, if necessary, unilaterally by the Grant Officer.
  - c. If the decision is made that the research activity will follow the PI to the new institution and the funds on the grant are still available, the grant with the current institution may be ended and a replacement grant issued to the new institution. When the termination/new award process is used, a fully endorsed proposal for a replacement grant will be requested from the PI's new institution to continue the research. Although such a proposal will be reviewed in the normal manner, every effort will be made to expedite a decision. Regardless of the action taken on the new proposal, final reports on the original grant, describing the scientific progress and expenditure to date will be required.
    - •When transferring research activities, the Grant Officer performs steps for a new award normally taken at their Centers, such as determination of appropriate funding for the original institution, receiving in writing the intent of the original institution to relinquish the grant, de-obligating any remaining funds from the original grant with the original institution, ensuring sufficient funds are available for the new institution's proposal, and updating records or files.
    - Following a review and evaluation of the proposal from the new institution by the program office, if the proposal is accepted, the Technical Officer will forward a recommendation to the Grant Officer to award to the new institution.

- 2. The evaluation and recommendation from the Technical Officer for the transfer of the research activity to the new institution must include:
  - a. Verification that the PI changing institutions still has the prerequisite scientific and/or technical expertise, and knowledge of the research activity (as supported by the basis for the original award to the PI's old institution);
  - b. Verification that the new institution has the necessary facilities and support to continue the original research;
  - c. Statement from the Technical Officer verifying that NASA is satisfied with the scientific and/or technical progress of the current PI;
  - d. Statement, with supporting rationale, that it will not be cost effective nor time efficient to recompete the effort, and that it is not likely NASA will realize any benefit by recompeting the research activity; and
  - e. Identification of the suggested amount of unexpended research funding to be transferred from the initial recipient institution to the PI's new institution.

Grants involving a transfer to another institution do not need to be re-advertised and there is no requirement to perform a market research analysis or market survey. After receiving approval of the new institution's proposal from the Technical Office, and coordinating with the Center Chief Financial Officer (CFO) on the intended new award to include verification that sufficient funds are available, the contracting or Grant Officer may make the award to the new institution.

# 6.4 Administrative Changes and Supplements.

- 1. Requests by the recipient to have a grant modified should be in writing to the Grant Officer.
- 2. Supplements are administrative award documents used to effect modifications to grants and cooperative agreements. Types of supplements include the following:
  - a. No-cost Extensions: A supplement used to extend the grant beyond the expiration date at no additional cost to the government. No-cost extensions are awarded when additional time beyond the established period of performance is required to assure adequate completion of the original scope of work within the available funding. A first no-cost extension can be issued by the recipient. See Provision 2 CFR 1800.903 Extensions.
  - b. Funded Extensions: A supplement used to extend the grant beyond the expiration date and that would require additional funding. Funded Extensions must be supported by a proposal and new technical evaluation submitted at least three months in advance of the expiration date (See Provision 2 CFR 1800.903 Extensions).
  - c. Administrative Supplements: A supplement used to enact administrative revisions to the grant. Examples of such revisions are PI Changes (See 2 CFR 1800.905 Change in principal investigator or scope), Technical Officer Changes, and general corrections. A NASA Grant Officer can unilaterally make minor or administrative changes to a grant.
  - d. Incremental Funding Supplements: A supplement used to obligate funding in furtherance of the original scope and total award amount (history) of the approved proposal. (See 2 CFR 1800.923 Incremental Funding)

- e. Augmentations: A supplement used at any time when work is introduced which is outside the scope of the approved proposal or when there is a need for substantial unanticipated funding. The Grant Officer must first determine whether the augmentation requires a separate approval as a non-competitive addition to the scope of the effort to be performed under the grant. Augmentations require the submission of revised budget proposals and technical evaluations covering the additional effort. Since augmentations will be performed within the existing period of performance, certifications will not normally be required.
- f. Combination of the above.
- g. Change of recipient institution (PI Transfer): Includes a supplement to end the original award. (See 6.3 Change of PI or change of recipient institution (PI Transfer)).

# 6.5 Novations and Change-of-name Agreements

Novations and change-of-name agreements are administrative actions requiring the involvement of the Grant Officer. Novation's are legal instruments under which obligations of an organization, (including the performance of grants), are assumed by a new organization arising out of a transfer of assets, usually as a result of a merger or acquisition by the new organization. Change-of-name agreements are legal instruments executed by an organization and NASA that recognizes the legal change of name of the organization without disturbing the original rights or obligations of the parties. Procedures for completing novation and change-of-name agreements are the same as those set forth at FAR Subpart 42.12. All novation agreements and change-of-name agreements of the recipient, prior to execution, shall be reviewed by legal counsel for legal sufficiency. It is recommended that the cognizant ONR office be contacted to determine responsibilities to complete novation or change-of-name agreements.

# **6.6 Approval of Equipment**

- 1. This section applies to both the purchase of equipment by the recipient and the request for NASA to provide government owned equipment. As with all budget requests the recipient must demonstrate and justify the need for the requested equipment.
- 2. Grant Officers shall conform with the following procedures to approve acquisition of equipment (these procedures apply to pre-award and post-award requests for equipment)
  - a. In accordance with 2 CFR 200, prior approval of equipment acquisitions by the NASA Grant Officer is required for both special and general purpose equipment with a unit cost over \$5,000 (unless a lower threshold has been established by the recipient). Grant award constitutes approval for any equipment provided and was requested in the original proposal. When two or more components are fabricated into a single coherent system in such a way that the components lose their separate identities, and their separation would render the system useless for its original purpose, the components will be considered as integral parts of a single system.
  - b. Requests by grant recipients for the acquisition of equipment with a unit cost over \$5,000 (unless a lower threshold has been established by the recipient) shall be supported by written documentation setting forth the description, purpose, and acquisition value of the equipment. (A change in the model number of a prior approved piece of equipment does not require re-submission for approval.)

# **6.7 Exempt Equipment**

Exempt equipment includes a system with a recipient-owned component (2 CFR 200.312). The requirement for agreement regarding NASA's retention of its option to take title shall apply where it is expected that one or more recipient-acquired components costing \$5,000 or less will be fabricated into a single system costing in excess of \$5,000. However, an item that is used ancillary to a system, without loss of its separate identity and usefulness, will be considered as a separate item and not as an integral component of the system.

# 6.8 Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA of 2006)

Agencies are responsible for quarterly verification of recipient reports in FFATA Subaward Reporting System (FSRS). Ultimately, this is a Grant Officer responsibility, but Centers may elect to have other individuals or teams undertake the quarterly verification. The verification is limited to ensuring consistency with grant and cooperative agreement information that is readily available to the Grant Officer. The review is necessary because the integrated system will cross-check recipient entries against Federal Procurement Data System - Next Generation (FPDS-NG) data and any anomalies will require correction by either the recipient or the Grant Officer. Examples of data fields that Grant Officers must verify include:

- Grant/Cooperative Agreement Number
- Awarding Agency Name (NASA)
- Awarding Agency Code (8000)
- Funding Agency Name (NASA)
- Funding Agency Code (8000)
- Treasury Account Symbol (TAS)
- Applicable Agency CFDA Number

The prime recipient's reporting requirements include many data elements that Grant Officers will not know and, therefore, are not responsible for verifying, such as:

- Whether a first-tier subaward has been issued,
- Whether a reported first-tier subaward value, place of performance, etc., is accurate, or
- Whether a prime recipient or first-tier subaward meets the thresholds or qualifies under an exemption to executive compensation reporting.

Grant Officers must follow this guidance for all new NASA grants and cooperative agreements awarded on or after October 1, 2010, under which the total Federal funding will be equal to \$25,000 or more at any time during the term of the grant or cooperative agreement.

#### 6.9 Catalogue of Federal Domestic Assistance Numbers

1. For reporting purposes under the Transparency Act and 2 CFR 200, Subpart F, Audit Requirement, Grant Officers shall convey the assigned CFDA number to recipients using wording similar to that suggested below. The suggested wording for conveying the CFDA number to recipients is included in the PRISM/Contract Management Module (CMM) clause templates for grants and cooperative agreements. Grant Officers shall convey the assigned CFDA number to the recipients retrospectively, by email, fax, or regular mail. If more than one funds source/CFDA number is associated with a given

- action, the CFDA number associated with the highest percentage funds source should be selected.
- 2. Grant Officers shall "select" the applicable Agency CFDA number from the drop-down list when entering grant or cooperative agreement awards in PRISM/CMM, as set forth in the CFDA/TAS cross-walk table provided in Section 5.4. If more than one funds source/CFDA number is associated with the action, the CFDA number associated with the highest percentage funds source should be cited. CAUTION: To ensure data quality and integrity, Grant Officers should avoid manually entering the CFDA number in PRISM/CMM; select from the drop-down menu only.
- 3. Grant Officers shall enter the corresponding TAS in FPDS-NG, as set forth in the CFDA/TAS cross-walk table provided in Section 5.5.
- 4. The NASA HQ, Office of Procurement, Contract and Grant Policy Division serves as the Agency CFDA Program Coordinator. The Agency CFDA Program Coordinator is responsible for the overall management and administration of the NASA CFDA Program. As requested by the NASA HQ Office of the Chief Financial Officer (OCFO), Budget Division, the Agency CFDA Program Coordinator is responsible for the establishment of new CFDA numbers, updates to existing CFDA numbers, and/or disposition of obsolete CFDA numbers.
- 5. The NASA HQ, OCFO, Budget Division is responsible for notifying the Agency CFDA Program Coordinator whenever NASA CFDA information changes are required. The OCFO is responsible for providing any financial/budget-related data that is required to the Agency CFDA Program Coordinator.
- 6. CFDA EXCEPTIONS: All existing Agency grants and cooperative agreements awarded prior to October 1, 2010, provided the total value of the award is not increased for any reason and by any amount, throughout the total term of the award.

#### **6.10 Center Retention of Authority**

Agency policy requires that all grant and cooperative agreement actions be processed, awarded, managed, and administered by the NSSC, except for the following specific actions:

- 1. Cooperative agreement actions with commercial firms, subject to 14 CFR 1274, are waived from the NSSC's responsibility/accountability (Note: Only those cooperative agreement actions involving "mandatory" cost sharing are exempt; the NSSC is responsible and accountable for awarding and administering cooperative agreement actions with commercial firms when the cost sharing is "voluntarily" offered).
- 2. Center actions that have been formally waived from the NSSC's responsibility/accountability by NASA Headquarters, Office of Procurement, in accordance with the procedures and approvals set forth below:
  - a. The NASA Center shall prepare and submit a request (i.e., memorandum format), addressed to the cognizant procurement analyst within the NASA HQ, Office of Procurement, Program Operations Division and copy the HQ Funding Office(s). At a minimum, the NASA center request shall fully address or contain the following items:
    - i. Specific identification of the document as a "Request authority to award and administer a cooperative agreement at a NASA center vice NSSC"
    - ii. Solicitation Number

- iii. A concise description of the proposed project
- iv. Total project budget or estimated cost to NASA
- v. Period of Performance
- vi Anticipated number of individual cooperative agreement awards
- vii. A statement as to whether this is a new project or a continuation of an existing project
- viii. A demonstration that the cooperative agreement action is not conducive to the NSSC's operating mode
- ix. A demonstration that the NASA center's procurement personnel possess the requisite training, experience, and qualifications to effectively award, manage, and administer cooperative agreements in accordance with Agency policy and regulation
- x. CFDA number(s) funding this effort
- xi. Signature of the Center Procurement Officer or the Center Deputy Procurement Officer. An email endorsement of the Center request from either Center procurement official will suffice.
- 3. Center requests may be submitted only for individual solicitations (e.g., Announcements of Opportunity, NASA Research Announcements, and Cooperative Agreement Notices) and shall be applicable to all cooperative agreements resulting from the particular solicitation. A separate NASA HQ, Office of Procurement approval, signed by the Assistant Administrator of Procurement, must exist for each solicitation. NASA HQ, Office of Procurement approvals shall only be effective for the specified period of performance of the individual cooperative agreement, plus any duly executed time extension. Follow-on actions, both competitive and non-competitive, beyond the original period of performance (excluding time extensions and authorized renewal/option periods) shall require the submission of a new request from the Center procurement office.
- 4. The NASA Centers shall maintain a centralized file of all NASA HQ approvals for audit and internal management control purposes, to include Procurement Management Reviews (PMRs), in addition to filing a copy of the approval in the official file.

#### 7.0 Closeout Procedures

- 1. Grant and cooperative agreements are physically and administratively complete and ready for closeout when:
  - a. The Grant Officer has received all financial, technical, and other reports required by the terms and conditions of the grant or cooperative agreement, and has obtained all required concurrences and/or approvals;
  - b. For research grants or cooperative agreements with large businesses (commercial firms), the Grant Officer has received concurrence from the patent counsel office regarding the recipient's Subject Inventions/Reportable Items Final Summary Report;
  - c. For those grants and cooperative agreements containing Government property and for which property administration has been delegated to the ONR or the DCMA, property disposition has been completed and the Grant Officer has received written notification from the ONR Administrative Grants Officer or the DCMA

- Administrative Contracting Officer indicating that all property administration duties have been completed, via either a DD Form 1593, Contract Administration Completion Record or other equivalent electronic notification (email is an acceptable form and mechanism for this notification);
- d. For grants or cooperative agreements awarded with provisional indirect rates see 2 CFR 200.344 (a) (2). When such grants or cooperative agreements are closed, the recipient should be notified of their obligation to return any funds due as a result of final indirect cost rate adjustments.
- e. A final Standard Form (SF) 425 or final invoice (for commercial firms) has been received; all payments have been made to the recipient; all reimbursements have been received and reconciled; and any remaining unused balance has been deobligated from the grant or cooperative agreement;
- f. The Grant Officer has verified that a copy of all required deliverables is in the grant or cooperative agreement file.
- 2. Grants and cooperative agreements shall not be closed if litigation or an appeal is pending, or until the completion of a termination action.
- 3. Records shall be retained in accordance with 2 CFR §200.333, *Retention requirements for records* and NASA Procedural Requirements (NPR) 1441.1, *NASA Records Retention Schedules*. As set forth in the NPR, grant and cooperative agreement files are generally retired to the Federal Records Center 2 years after completion of the grant or cooperative agreement, and destroyed when 6 years, 3 months old.
- 4. A recipient is considered non-compliant with the terms and conditions of an award when they do <u>not</u> provide acceptable final reports by the identified due date or an extension granted. Under these conditions, the Grant Officer shall initiate unilateral close out (close out without the cooperation of the recipient) of the award within 270 days of the completion date of the award. Unilateral closeout allows the Grant Officer to comply with the OMB requirements for closeout.
  - a. The Grant Officer shall document all contact, and attempts, with the recipient to obtain the required documents. The decision memo(s) for either the bilateral or unilateral closeout decision, made under this unilateral closeout guidance, will be kept in the official grant file.
  - b. To close out an award unilaterally, a Grant Officer shall send a letter to the recipient specifying, at a minimum,
    - i. The recipient is considered non-compliant with the terms and conditions of its award because they have not provided acceptable final reports as identified in the award.
    - ii. The Center responsible for unilaterally closing out the award based on non-receipt of acceptable final reports;
    - iii. The federal funding amount at which the NASA will close the award (when the recipient has not submitted a final FFR expenditure report)
      - A. For advance payments, the amount reported as "cumulative cash disbursement" in the latest federal cash report,
      - B. For reimbursement payments, the total amount of payments requested before the end of the project period.

#### iv. For recipients receiving Advance payment

- A. Review the most recently submitted cash status information on item 5 of the Federal Financial Report (FFR) Attachment or, as applicable, line 10.b of the latest or final (if available) FFR, to determine the amount reported as disbursed.
- B. Compare the reported disbursement with the award amount and with any updated drawdown information obtained from the payment system.
- C. For single-award reporting of advance payments, the amount shown as "cash on hand" on line 10.c of the FFR must be repaid and is considered a debt.
- D. For multiple-award reporting of advance payments, unless substantiated by the recipient in accordance with any instructions provided by the Center, any reported drawdown or disbursement of funds attributable to the award being closed after the end of the latest federal cash reporting quarter will be treated as disallowed costs and may be appealed by the recipient.

# v.For recipients receiving Reimbursement payment

- A. Review the latest invoice to determine the cumulative amount requested and payment records to determine the amount paid as of the end of the project period.
- B. Compare the cumulative payment requests with the latest or final (if available) FFR to determine whether the recipient has requested reimbursement for the amount reported as spent through that reporting period.
- C. If the latest invoice covers a period beyond that covered by the latest FFR, compare the amount reported on line 11.g, "Federal share of amount on line e," with the amount reported on line 10.e, "Federal share of expenditures," of the FFR, to determine which is greater.
- D. For reimbursement payments, the difference between the amounts shown on line 10.e, "Federal share of expenditures," on the last FFR submitted or, if greater, the amount shown latest available invoice will be treated as disallowed costs and may be appealed by the recipient.

#### 8.0 Appendix -- Exhibits

The following exhibits are found in this Appendix:

Exhibit A – Standard Announcement format for NASA Announcements of Grants and Cooperative Agreement Funding Opportunities

Exhibit B – Waiver Request Process

Exhibit C – Additional Terms and Conditions

Exhibit D – Award Terms and Conditions

Exhibit E – Required Publications and Reports

Exhibit F – Guidance for the Preparation and Submission of Unsolicited Proposals

# **Grant and Cooperative Agreement Manual**

Exhibit G – Examples of Costs Categories from 2 CFR 200 Subpart E

# Exhibit A -- Standard Announcement Format for NASA Announcements of Grants and Cooperative Agreements

# NATIONAL AERONAUTICS AND SPACE ADMINISTRATION (NASA)

Center issuing announcement Mission Directorate

Program Title and Fiscal Year

#### NASA RESEARCH ANNOUNCEMENT (NRA)

Type of Project (science research, etc.)

#### **ANNOUNCEMENT NUMBER:**

# CATALOG OF FEDERAL DOMESTIC ASSISTANCE (CFDA) NUMBER:

#### **ANNOUNCEMENT TYPE:**

Either initial announcement of this funding opportunity or a modification of a previously announced opportunity

**ISSUED: Date** Funding Opportunity Announcement issued

#### **KEY DATES**

Key dates include due dates and time for applications or Executive Order 12372 submissions, as well as for any letters of intent or pre-applications. For any announcement issued before a program's application materials are available, key dates also include the date on which those materials will be released; and any other additional information, as deemed applicable by the relevant Federal awarding agency.

# **Grant and Cooperative Agreement Manual**

# **Table of Contents**

- A. Program Description—Required
- B. Federal Award Information—Required
- C. Eligibility Information Required
- D. Application and Submission Information Required
- E. Application Review Information Required
- F. Federal Award Administration Information Required
- G. Federal Awarding Agency Contact(s)—Required
- H. Other Information—Optional

# NATIONAL AERONAUTICS AND SPACE ADMINISTRATION (NASA)

Center issuing announcement Mission Directorate

#### A. Program Description—Required

This section contains the full program description of the funding opportunity. It may be as long as needed to adequately communicate to potential applicants the areas in which funding may be provided.

It describes the Federal awarding agency's funding priorities or the technical or focus areas in which the Federal awarding agency intends to provide assistance. As appropriate, it may include any program history (e.g., whether this is a new program or a new or changed area of program emphasis).

This section may communicate indicators of successful projects (e.g., if the program encourages collaborative efforts) and may include examples of projects that have been funded previously.

This section also may include other information the Federal awarding agency deems necessary, and must at a minimum include citations for authorizing statutes and regulations for the funding opportunity.

If this is a broad announcement that is soliciting proposals for multiple projects (such as ROSES) then a description of each project should be included.

#### **B. Federal Award Information—Required**

Relevant information could include:

- •the total amount of funding that the Federal awarding agency expects to award through the announcement;
- •the anticipated number of Federal awards;
- •the expected amounts of individual Federal awards (which may be a range);
- •the amount of funding per Federal award, on average, experienced in previous years; and
- •the anticipated start dates and periods of performance for new Federal awards.

This section also should address whether applications for renewal or supplementation of existing projects are eligible to compete with applications for new Federal awards.

This section also must indicate the type(s) of assistance instrument (e.g., grant, cooperative agreement) that may be awarded if applications are successful.

If cooperative agreements may be awarded, this section either should describe the "substantial involvement" that the Federal awarding agency expects to have or should reference where the potential applicant can find that information (e.g., in the funding opportunity description in A. Program Description—Required or Federal award administration information in section D. Application and Submission Information).

If procurement contracts also may be awarded, this must be stated.

# C. Eligibility Information - Required

This section addresses the considerations or factors that determine applicant or application eligibility. This includes:

- •The eligibility of particular types of applicant organizations,
- •Any factors affecting the eligibility of the principal investigator or project director, and
- •Any criteria that make particular projects ineligible.

Federal agencies should make clear whether an applicant's failure to meet an eligibility criterion by the time of an application deadline will result in the Federal awarding agency returning the application without review or, even though an application may be reviewed, will preclude the Federal awarding agency from making a Federal award.

Key elements to be addressed are:

# 1. Eligible Applicants—Required. Announcements must clearly identify the types of entities that are eligible to apply.

If there are no restrictions on eligibility, this section may simply indicate that all potential applicants are eligible.

If there are restrictions on eligibility, it is important to be clear about the specific types of entities that are eligible, not just the types that are ineligible. For example, if the program is limited to non-profit organizations subject to 26 U.S.C. 501(c)(3) of the tax code (26 U.S.C. 501(c)(3)), the announcement should say so. Similarly, it is better to state explicitly that Native American tribal organizations are eligible than to assume that they can unambiguously infer that from a statement that non-profit organizations may apply.

Eligibility also can be expressed by exception, (e.g., open to all types of domestic applicants other than individuals). This section should refer to any portion of Section IV specifying documentation that must be submitted to support an eligibility determination (e.g., proof of 501(c)(3) status as determined by the Internal Revenue Service or an authorizing tribal resolution).

To the extent that any funding restriction in Section IV.5 could affect the eligibility of an applicant or project, the announcement must either restate that restriction in this section or provide a cross-reference to its description in Section C.5.

#### 2.Cost Sharing or Matching—Required.

Announcements must state whether there is required cost sharing, matching, or cost participation without which an application would be ineligible. If cost sharing is not required, the announcement must explicitly say so.

Required cost sharing may be a certain percentage or amount, or may be in the form of contributions of specified items or activities (e.g., provision of equipment). It is important that the announcement be clear about any restrictions on the types of cost (e.g., in-kind contributions) that are acceptable as cost sharing.

Cost sharing as an eligibility criterion includes requirements based in statute or regulation, as described in §200.306 Cost sharing or matching of this Part.

This section should refer to the appropriate portion(s) of section D. Application and Submission Information stating any pre-award requirements for submission of letters or other documentation to verify commitments to meet cost-sharing requirements if a Federal award is made.

#### 3.Other—Required, if applicable.

If there are other eligibility criteria (i.e., criteria that have the effect of making an application or project ineligible for Federal awards, whether referred to as "responsiveness" criteria, "go-no go" criteria, "threshold" criteria, or in other ways), must be clearly stated and must include a reference to the regulation of requirement that describes the restriction, as applicable. For example, if entities that have been found to be in violation of a particular Federal statute are ineligible, it is important to say so.

This section must also state any limit on the number of applications an applicant may submit under the announcement and make clear whether the limitation is on the submitting organization, individual investigator/program director, or both. This section should also address any eligibility criteria for beneficiaries or for program participants other than Federal award recipients.

#### D. Application and Submission Information - Required

#### 1. Address to Request Application Package—Required.

NOTE – it is NASA policy to encourage open competition to include all eligible parties. Therefore, though it is NASA preference that all applications should be submitted electronically, Exhibit B outlines the NASA process for submitting a non-electronic application.

Potential applicants must be told how to get application forms, kits, or other materials needed to apply (if this announcement contains everything needed, this section need only say so).

- •An Internet address where the materials can be accessed is acceptable.
- •However, since high-speed Internet access is not yet universally available for downloading documents, and applicants may have additional accessibility requirements, there also should be a way for potential applicants to request paper copies of materials, such as a U.S. Postal Service mailing address, telephone or FAX number, Telephone Device for the Deaf (TDD), Text Telephone (TTY) number, and/or Federal Information Relay Service (FIRS) number.

#### 2. Content and Form of Application Submission—Required.

This section must identify the required content of an application and the forms or formats that an applicant must use to submit it.

If any requirements are stated elsewhere because they are general requirements that apply to multiple programs or funding opportunities, this section should refer to where those requirements may be found.

This section also should include required forms or formats as part of the announcement or state where the applicant may obtain them.

This section should specifically address content and form or format requirements for:

- •Pre-applications, letters of intent, or white papers required or encouraged (see Section IV.3), including any limitations on the number of pages or other formatting requirements similar to those for full applications.
- •The application as a whole. For all submissions, this would include any limitations on:

```
othe number of pages,
ofont size and typeface, margins,
opaper size,
onumber of copies,
oand sequence or assembly requirements.
```

- •If electronic submission is permitted or required, this could include special requirements for formatting or signatures.
- •Component pieces of the application (e.g., if all copies of the application must bear original signatures on the face page or the program narrative may not exceed 10 pages).
- •This includes any pieces that may be submitted separately by third parties (e.g., references or letters confirming commitments from third parties that will be contributing a portion of any required cost sharing).
- •Information that successful applicants must submit after notification of intent to make a Federal award, but prior to a Federal award. This could include evidence of compliance with requirements relating to human subjects or information needed to comply with the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) (42 U.S.C. 4321-4370h).
- 3. Dun and Bradstreet Universal Numbering System (DUNS) Number (<a href="https://iupdate.dnb.com/iUpdate/viewiUpdateHome.htm">https://iupdate.dnb.com/iUpdate/viewiUpdateHome.htm</a>) and System for Award Management (SAM)—Required. (<a href="https://www.sam.gov">https://www.sam.gov</a>)

This paragraph must state clearly that each applicant (unless the applicant is an individual or Federal awarding agency that is excepted from those requirements under 2 CFR §25.110(b) or (c), or has an exception approved by the Federal awarding agency under 2 CFR §25.110(d)) is required to:

•Be registered in SAM before submitting its application;

- •Provide a valid DUNS number in its application; and
- •Continue to maintain an active SAM registration with current information at all times during which it has an active Federal award or an application or plan under consideration by a Federal awarding agency.

It also must state that the Federal awarding agency may not make a Federal award to an applicant until the applicant has complied with all applicable DUNS and SAM requirements and, if an applicant has not fully complied with the requirements by the time the Federal awarding agency is ready to make a Federal award, the Federal awarding agency may determine that the applicant is not qualified to receive a Federal award and use that determination as a basis for making a Federal award to another applicant.

#### 4. Submission Dates and Times—Required.

Announcements must identify due dates and times for all submissions. This includes not only the full applications but also any preliminary submissions (e.g., letters of intent, white papers, or pre-applications). It also includes any other submissions of information before Federal award that are separate from the full application.

If the funding opportunity is a general announcement that is open for a period of time with no specific due dates for applications, this section should say so.

**NOTE:** that the information on dates that is included in this section also must appear with other overview information in a location preceding the full text of the announcement (see §200.203 Notices of Funding Opportunities).

Each type of submission should be designated as encouraged or required and, if required, any deadline date (or dates, if the Federal awarding agency plans more than one cycle of application submission, review, and Federal award under the announcement) should be specified.

The announcement must state (or provide a reference to another document that states):

- •Any deadline in terms of a date and local time. If the due date falls on a Saturday, Sunday, or Federal holiday, the reporting package is due the next business day.
- •What the deadline means (e.g., whether it is the date and time by which the Federal awarding agency must receive the application, the date by which the application must be postmarked, or something else) and how that depends, if at all, on the submission method (e.g., mail, electronic, or personal/courier delivery).
- •The effect of missing a deadline (e.g., whether late applications are neither reviewed nor considered or are reviewed and considered under some circumstances).
- •How the receiving Federal office determines whether an application or pre-application has been submitted before the deadline. This includes the form of acceptable proof of mailing or system-generated documentation of receipt date and time.

This section also may indicate whether, when, and in what form the applicant will receive an acknowledgement of receipt.

This information should be displayed in ways that will be easy to understand and use. It can be difficult to extract all needed information from narrative paragraphs, even when they are well written. A tabular form for providing a summary of the information may help applicants for some programs and give them what effectively could be a checklist to verify the completeness of their application package before submission.

#### 5.Intergovernmental Review—Required, if applicable.

If the funding opportunity is subject to Executive Order 12372, "Intergovernmental Review of Federal Programs," the notice must say so. In alerting applicants that they must contact their state's Single Point of Contact (SPOC) to find out about and comply with the state's process under Executive Order 12372, it may be useful to inform potential applicants that the names and addresses of the SPOCs are listed in the Office of Management and Budget's Web site. <a href="https://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/grants\_spoc">https://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/grants\_spoc</a>

#### 6. Funding Restrictions—Required.

Notices must include information on funding restrictions in order to allow an applicant to develop an application and budget consistent with program requirements. Examples are:

- •Whether construction is an allowable activity,
- •If there are any limitations on direct costs such as foreign travel or equipment purchases, and
- •If there are any limits on indirect costs (or facilities and administrative costs) such as not paying a cost of money percentage.

**NOTE:** Applicants must be advised if Federal awards will not allow reimbursement of pre-Federal award costs.

#### 7. Other Submission Requirements—Required.

This section must address any other submission requirements not included in the other paragraphs of this section. This might include the format of submission, i.e., paper or electronic, for each type of required submission.

Applicants should not be required to submit in more than one format and this section should indicate whether they may choose whether to submit applications in hard copy or electronically, may submit only in hard copy, or may submit only electronically.

This section also must indicate where applications (and any pre-applications) must be submitted if sent by postal mail, electronic means, or hand-delivery. For postal mail submission, this must include the name of an office, official, individual or function (e.g., application receipt center) and a complete mailing address. For electronic submission, this must include the URL or email address; whether a password(s) is required; whether particular software or other electronic capabilities are required; what to do in the event of system problems and a point of contact who will be available in the event the applicant experiences technical difficulties.

**NOTE:** With respect to electronic methods for providing information about funding opportunities or accepting applicants' submissions of information, each Federal awarding agency is responsible for compliance with Section 508 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. 794d).

#### E. Application Review Information

#### 1. Criteria—Required.

This section must address the criteria that the Federal awarding agency will use to evaluate applications. This includes the merit and other review criteria that evaluators will use to judge applications, including any statutory, regulatory, or other preferences (e.g., minority status or Native American tribal preferences) that will be applied in the review process. These criteria are distinct from eligibility criteria that are addressed before an application is accepted for review and any program policy or other factors that are applied during the selection process, after the review process is completed.

The intent is to make the application process transparent so applicants can make informed decisions when preparing their applications to maximize fairness of the process.

The announcement should clearly describe all criteria, including any sub-criteria. If criteria vary in importance, the announcement should specify the relative percentages, weights, or other means used to distinguish among them.

For statutory, regulatory, or other preferences, the announcement should provide a detailed explanation of those preferences with an explicit indication of their effect (e.g., whether they result in additional points being assigned).

If an applicant's proposed cost sharing will be considered in the review process (as opposed to being an eligibility criterion described in Section III.2), the announcement must specifically address how it will be considered (e.g., to assign a certain number of additional points to applicants who offer cost sharing, or to break ties among applications with equivalent scores after evaluation against all other factors).

If cost sharing will not be considered in the evaluation, the announcement should say so, so that there is no ambiguity for potential applicants. Vague statements that cost sharing is encouraged, without clarification as to what that means, are unhelpful to applicants. It also is important that the announcement be clear about any restrictions on the types of cost (e.g., in-kind contributions) that are acceptable as cost sharing.

#### 2. Review and Selection Process—Required.

This section may vary in the level of detail provided. The announcement must list any program policy or other factors or elements, other than merit criteria, that the selecting official may use in selecting applications for Federal award (e.g., geographical dispersion, program balance, or diversity).

The Federal awarding agency may also include other appropriate details. For example, this section may:

- •Indicate who is responsible for evaluation against the merit criteria (e.g., peers external to the Federal awarding agency or Federal awarding agency personnel) and/or who makes the final selections for Federal awards.
- •If there is a multi-phase review process (e.g., an external panel advising internal Federal awarding agency personnel who make final recommendations to the deciding official), the announcement may describe the phases.
- •The number of people on an evaluation panel and how it operates, the way reviewers are selected, reviewer qualifications, and the way that conflicts of interest are avoided.

In addition, if the Federal awarding agency permits applicants to nominate suggested reviewers of their applications or suggest those they feel may be inappropriate due to a conflict of interest, that information should be included in this section.

#### 3. Anticipated Announcement and Federal Award Dates—Optional.

This section is intended to provide applicants with information they can use for planning purposes. If there is a single application deadline followed by the simultaneous review of all applications, the Federal awarding agency can include in this section information about the anticipated dates for announcing or notifying successful and unsuccessful applicants and for having Federal awards in place.

If applications are received and evaluated on a "rolling" basis at different times during an extended period, it may be appropriate to give applicants an estimate of the time needed to process an application and notify the applicant of the Federal awarding agency's decision.

#### F. Federal Award Administration Information

#### 1. Federal Award Notices—Required.

This section must address what a successful applicant can expect to receive following selection.

If the Federal awarding agency's practice is to provide a separate notice stating that an application has been selected before it actually makes the Federal award, this section would be the place to indicate that the letter is not an authorization to begin performance (to the extent that it allows charging to Federal awards of pre-award costs at the non-Federal entity's own risk).

This section should indicate that the notice of Federal award signed by the grants officer (or equivalent) is the authorizing document, and whether it is provided through postal mail or by electronic means and to whom.

It also may address the timing, form, and content of notifications to unsuccessful applicants. See also §200.210 Information contained in a Federal award.

#### 2. Administrative and National Policy Requirements—Required.

This section must identify the usual administrative and national policy requirements the Federal awarding agency's Federal awards may include. Providing this information lets a potential

applicant identify any requirements with which it would have difficulty complying if its application is successful. In those cases, early notification about the requirements allows the potential applicant to decide not to apply or to take needed actions before receiving the Federal award.

The announcement need not include all of the terms and conditions of the Federal award, but may refer to a document (with information about how to obtain it) or Internet site where applicants can see the terms and conditions.

If this funding opportunity will lead to Federal awards with some special terms and conditions that differ from the Federal awarding agency's usual (sometimes called "general") terms and conditions, this section should highlight those special terms and conditions. Doing so will alert applicants that have received Federal awards from the Federal awarding agency previously and might not otherwise expect different terms and conditions.

For the same reason, the announcement should inform potential applicants about special requirements that could apply to particular Federal awards after the review of applications and other information, based on the particular circumstances of the effort to be supported (e.g., if human subjects were to be involved or if some situations may justify special terms on intellectual property, data sharing or security requirements).

#### 3. Reporting—Required.

This section must include:

- •General information about the type (e.g., financial or performance), frequency, and means of submission (paper or electronic) of post-Federal award reporting requirements.
- •Highlight any special reporting requirements for Federal awards under this funding opportunity that differ (e.g., by report type, frequency, form/format, or circumstances for use) from what the Federal awarding agency's Federal awards usually require.

#### G. Federal Awarding Agency Contact(s)—Required

The announcement must give potential applicants a point(s) of contact for answering questions or helping with problems while the funding opportunity is open. The intent of this requirement is to be as helpful as possible to potential applicants, so the Federal awarding agency should consider approaches such as giving:

- •Points of contact who may be reached in multiple ways (e.g., by telephone, fax, and/or email, as well as regular mail).
- •A fax or email address that multiple people access, so that someone will respond even if others are unexpectedly absent during critical periods.
- •Different contacts for distinct kinds of help (e.g., one for questions of programmatic content and a second for administrative questions).

#### H. Other Information—Optional

This section may include any additional information that will assist a potential applicant. For example, the section might:

- •Indicate whether this is a new program or a one-time initiative.
- •Mention related programs or other upcoming or ongoing Federal awarding agency funding opportunities for similar activities.
- •Include current Internet addresses for Federal awarding agency Web sites that may be useful to an applicant in understanding the program.
- •Alert applicants to the need to identify proprietary information and inform them about the way the Federal awarding agency will handle it.
- •Include certain routine notices to applicants (e.g., that the Federal government is not obligated to make any Federal award as a result of the announcement or that only grants officers can bind the Federal government to the expenditure of funds).

#### **Exhibit B – Waiver Request Process**

Applicants may request a waiver of the requirement for electronic submission if they can provide a compelling reason. The process for applying for a waiver is described below. Questions on applying for a waiver may be directed to NASA contact listed in the funding announcement.

All applicants must register in the System for Award Management (SAM) and NASA Solicitation and Proposal Integrated Review and Evaluation System (NSPIRES) even those who intend to request a waiver. If you do not have an active SAM registration prior to submitting your paper application, it will be screened out and returned to you without review. Registration is necessary to ensure that information required for paper submission is available and that the applicant is ready to submit electronically if the waiver is denied.

A written waiver request must be received by NASA at least 20 calendar days in advance of the application due date stated on the cover page of the Request for Proposal (RFP). The request must be either e-mailed or mailed (USPS or common carrier) to the NASA contact listed in the funding announcement:

When requesting a waiver, the following information must be included:

- NASA CAN, or announcement title and announcement number;
- Name, address, and telephone number of the applicant organization as they will appear in the application;
- Applicant organization's DUNS number;
- Authorized Organization Representative (AOR) for the named applicant;
- Name, telephone number, and e-mail of the applicant organization's Contact Person for the waiver; and
- Details of why the organization is unable to submit electronically, explaining why their physical location does not have adequate access to the Internet.

The NASA official will either e-mail (if the waiver request was received by e-mail) or express mail/deliver (if the waiver request was received by mail) the waiver decision to the Contact Person no later than seven calendar days prior to the application due date. If the waiver is approved, an application must be submitted either by email or mailed in as a paper copy or using a CD-ROM or similar devise. If the waiver is disapproved, the applicant organization must be prepared to submit through Grants.gov or NSPIRES or forfeit the opportunity to apply. The written approval must be included as the cover page of the paper application and the application must be received by the due date.

A paper application will not be accepted without the waiver approval and will be returned to the applicant if it is not included. Paper applications received after the due date will not be accepted.

Instructions for Submitting a Paper Application with a Waiver Paper submissions must be postmarked by date and time specified in the announcement. Applications may be emailed to the NASA contact, shipped using only Federal Express (FedEx), United Parcel Service (UPS), or the

U.S. Postal Service (USPS). You will be notified by postal mail that your application has been received.

**Note:** If you use the USPS, you must use Express Mail. Please remember that mail sent to federal facilities undergoes a security screening prior to delivery. You are responsible for ensuring that you submit your application so that it will arrive by the application due date and time.

NASA will not accept or consider any applications that are sent by facsimile or hand carried.

If you are submitting a paper application, you must submit an original application. The original and copies must not be bound and nothing should be attached, stapled, folded, or pasted. Do not use staples, paper clips, or fasteners. You may use rubber bands.

If you are submitting a paper application, you must follow the funding announcement's instructions for order in which the required forms and documents are to be submitted. You must follow the formatting instructions included in the funding announcement. Oversized pages (e.g., foldouts, posters) will be proportionally calculated against the page count.

With the exception of standard forms in the application package, all pages in the application should be numbered consecutively, with a notation "page XX out of XX". This notation assures that all the pages were received.

#### Exhibit C – Additional Terms and Conditions

The following contains the text of the terms and conditions referenced in paragraph 5 of section 5.3 in the GCAM.

1. Cross-Waiver of Liability for International Space Station Activities
(This Term and Condition shall be included in grants when the effort to be performed may involve Protected Space Operations, as that term is defined in the provision, relating to the International Space Station. If a grant or cooperative agreement may involve a launch other than the International Space Station, the Grant Officer also shall insert the special Term and Condition entitled "Cross-Waiver of liability for Science or Space Exploration Activities unrelated to the International Space Station."

The cross-waivers will require the recipient to extend the cross-waiver terms and conditions to their subcontractors at any tier and related entities, ensuring those subcontractors and related entities also waive all claims against any entity or person defined in the provision for damages arising out of Protected Space Operations. This cross-waiver is intended to be broadly construed, and NASA extends it to its related entities as set forth in the provision. The language in the cross waiver is required by the international agreements NASA has with its international partners for the use of the Space Station.)

## CROSS-WAIVER OF LIABILITY FOR INTERNATIONAL SPACE STATION ACTIVITIES (DEC 2014)

- (a) The Intergovernmental Agreement Among the Government of Canada, Governments of Member States of the European Space Agency, the Government of Japan, the Government of the Russian Federation, and the Government of the United States of America concerning Cooperation on the Civil International Space Station (IGA) for the International Space Station (ISS) contains a cross-waiver of liability provision to encourage participation in the exploration, exploitation, and use of outer space through the ISS. This cross-waiver of liability is to be broadly construed to achieve this objective.
  - (b) As used in this provision, the term:
- (1) "Agreement" refers to any NASA agreement, grant, cooperative agreement, or contract that contains the cross-waiver of liability provision authorized by 14 CFR Part 1266.102.
  - (2) "Damage" means:
    - (i) Bodily injury to, or other impairment of health of, or death of, any person;
    - (ii) Damage to, loss of, or loss of use of any property;
    - (iii) Loss of revenue or profits; or
    - (iv) Other direct, indirect, or consequential damage.
- (3) "Launch Vehicle" means an object, or any part thereof, intended for launch, launched from Earth, or returning to Earth which carries payloads or persons, or both.
- (4) "Partner State" includes each Contracting Party for which the IGA has entered into force, pursuant to Article 25 of the IGA or pursuant to any successor agreement. A Partner State includes its Cooperating Agency. It also includes any entity specified in the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between NASA and the Government of Japan's Cooperating Agency in the implementation of that MOU.

- (5) "Party" means a party to an Agreement involving activities in connection with the ISS, including a party that is the prime recipient under this grant\cooperative agreement.
  - (6) "Payload" means all property to be flown or used on or in a Launch Vehicle or the ISS.
- (7) "Protected Space Operations" means all Launch or Transfer Vehicle activities, ISS activities, and Payload activities on Earth, in outer space, or in transit between Earth and outer space in implementation of the IGA, MOUs concluded pursuant to the IGA, implementing agreements, and contracts to perform work in support of NASA's obligations under these Agreements. It includes, but is not limited to:
- (i) Research, design, development, test, manufacture, assembly, integration, operation, or use of Launch or Transfer Vehicles, the ISS, Payloads, or instruments, as well as related support equipment and facilities and services; and
- (ii) All activities related to ground support, test, training, simulation, or guidance and control equipment and related facilities or services. "Protected Space Operations" also includes all activities related to evolution of the ISS, as provided for in Article 14 of the IGA. "Protected Space Operations" excludes activities on Earth which are conducted on return from the ISS to develop further a Payload's product or process for use other than for ISS-related activities in implementation of the IGA.
  - (8) "Related Entity" means:
    - (i) A contractor, recipient or subcontractor of a Party or a Partner State at any tier;
    - (ii) A user or customer of a Party or a Partner State at any tier; or
- (iii) A contractor or subcontractor of a user or customer of a Party or a Partner State at any tier.

The terms "recipient," "contractor," and "subcontractor" include suppliers of any kind.

- (9) "Transfer Vehicle" means any vehicle that operates in space and transfers Payloads or persons or both between two different space objects, between two different locations on the same space object, or between a space object and the surface of a celestial body. A "Transfer Vehicle" also includes a vehicle that departs from and returns to the same location on a space object. (c)(1) The Recipient agrees to a cross-waiver of liability pursuant to which it waives all claims against any of the entities or persons listed in paragraphs (c)(1)(i) through (c)(1)(iv) of this provision based on Damage arising out of Protected Space Operations. This cross-waiver shall apply only if the person, entity, or property causing the Damage is involved in Protected Space Operations and the person, entity, or property damaged is damaged by virtue of its involvement in Protected Space Operations. The cross-waiver shall apply to any claims for Damage, whatever the legal basis for such claims, against:
  - (i) A Party as defined in (B)(5) above;
  - (ii) A Partner State including the United States of America;
- (iii) A Related Entity of any entity identified in paragraph (c)(1)(i) or (c)(1)(ii) of this provision; or
- (iv) The employees of any of the entities identified in paragraphs (c)(1)(i) through (c)(1)(iii) of this provision.
- (2) In addition, the Recipient shall, by contract or otherwise, extend the cross-waiver of liability set forth in paragraph (c)(1) of this provision to its Related Entities at any tier by requiring them, by contract or otherwise, to:
- (i) Waive all claims against the entities or persons identified in paragraphs (c)(1)(i) through (c)(1)(iv) of this provision; and

- (ii) Require that their Related Entities waive all claims against the entities or persons identified in paragraphs (c)(1)(i) through (c)(1)(iv) of this provision.
- (3) For avoidance of doubt, this cross-waiver of liability includes a cross-waiver of claims arising from the Convention on International Liability for Damage Caused by Space Objects, which entered into force on September 1, 1972, where the person, entity, or property causing the Damage is involved in Protected Space Operations and the person, entity, or property damaged is damaged by virtue of its involvement in Protected Space Operations.
- (4) Notwithstanding the other conditions of this provision, this cross-waiver of liability shall not be applicable to:
  - (i) Claims between a Recipient and its own Related Entities;
- (ii) Claims made by a natural person, his/her estate, survivors or subrogees (except when a subrogee is a Party to an Agreement or is otherwise bound by the terms of this cross-waiver) for bodily injury to, or other impairment of health of, or death of, such person;
  - (iii) Claims for Damage caused by willful misconduct;
  - (iv) Intellectual property claims; or
- (v) Claims for Damage resulting from a failure of the Recipient to extend the cross-waiver of liability to its Related Entities, pursuant to paragraph (c)(2) of this provision.
- (5) Nothing in this provision shall be construed to create the basis for a claim or suit where none would otherwise exist.
  - (6) This cross-waiver shall not be applicable when 51 U.S.C. 50101 et seq. is applicable.
- (7) This cross-waiver shall not apply to or affect the rights and obligations arising from any other Term and Condition or provision of this grant/cooperative agreement.

(End of Provision)

2. Cross-Waiver of liability for Science or Space Exploration Activities Unrelated to the International Space Station.

(This Term and Condition shall be included in solicitations such as Broad Agency Announcements, e.g., Announcements of Opportunity (AO's) and NASA Research Announcements (NRA), grants, and cooperative agreements when the effort may result involve a launch unrelated to the International Space Station. If a grant or cooperative agreement may involve the International Space Station, the Grant Officer also shall insert the special Term and Condition entitled "Cross-Waiver of liability for International Space Station Activities."

The cross-waivers will require the recipient to extend the cross-waiver terms and conditions to their subcontractors at any tier and related entities, ensuring those subcontractors and related entities also waive all claims against any entity or person defined in the provision for damages arising out of Protected Space Operations. This cross-waiver is intended to be broadly construed, and NASA extends it to its related entities as set forth in the provision. The language in the cross waiver is required by the international agreements NASA has with its international partners for the exploration of space.)

CROSS-WAIVER OF LIABILITY FOR SCIENCE OR SPACE EXPLORATION ACTIVITIES UNRELATED TO THE INTERNATIONAL SPACE STATION (DEC 2014)

- (a) The purpose of this provision is to extend a cross-waiver of liability for activities conducted under Agreements involving Science or Space Exploration activities, unrelated to the International Space Station (ISS), but which involve a launch. This cross-waiver of liability shall be broadly construed to achieve the objective of furthering participation in space exploration, use, and investment.
  - (b) As used in this provision, the term:
- (1) "Agreement" refers to any NASA agreement, grant, cooperative agreement, or contract that contains the cross-waiver of liability provision authorized in 14 CFR 1266.104.
  - (2) "Damage" means:
    - (i) Bodily injury to, or other impairment of health of, or death of, any person;
    - (ii) Damage to, loss of, or loss of use of any property;
    - (iii) Loss of revenue or profits; or
    - (iv) Other direct, indirect, or consequential damage;
- (3) "Launch Vehicle" means an object, or any part thereof, intended for launch, launched from Earth, or returning to Earth which carries Payloads or persons, or both.
- (4) "Party" means a party to an Agreement for Science or Space Exploration activities, unrelated to the ISS, but which involve a launch, including a party that is the prime recipient under this grant/cooperative agreement.
  - (5) "Payload" means all property to be flown or used on or in a Launch Vehicle.
- (6) "Protected Space Operations" means all Launch or Transfer Vehicle activities and Payload activities on Earth, in outer space, or in transit between Earth and outer space in implementation of an Agreement for Science or Space Exploration activities, unrelated to the ISS, but which involve a launch. Protected Space Operations begins at the signature of the Agreement and ends when all activities done in implementation of the Agreement are completed. It includes, but is not limited to:
- (i) Research, design, development, test, manufacture, assembly, integration, operation, or use of Launch or Transfer Vehicles, Payloads, or instruments, as well as related support equipment and facilities and services; and
- (ii) All activities related to ground support, test, training, simulation, or guidance and control equipment, and related facilities or services.

Protected Space Operations excludes activities on Earth which are conducted on return from space to develop further a Payload's product or process other than for the activities within the scope of an Agreement.

- (7) "Related entity" means:
  - (i) A contractor, recipient or subcontractor of a Party at any tier;
  - (ii) A user or customer of a party at any tier; or
- (iii) A contractor or subcontractor of a user or customer of a Party at any tier. The terms "recipient," "contractor" and "subcontractor" include suppliers of any kind.
  - (c) Cross-waiver of liability:
- (1) The Recipient agrees to a waiver of liability pursuant to which it waives all claims against any of the entities or persons listed in paragraphs (c)(1)(i) through (c)(1)(iv) of this Term and Condition based on Damage arising out of Protected Space Operations. This cross-waiver shall apply only if the person, entity, or property causing the Damage is involved in Protected Space Operations and the person, entity, or property damaged is damaged by virtue of its

involvement in Protected Space Operations. The waiver shall apply to any claims for Damage, whatever the legal basis for such claims, against:

- (i) A Party;
- (ii) A Party to another Agreement that includes flight on the same Launch Vehicle;
- (iii) A Related Entity of any of the entities identified in (c)(1)(i) or (c)(1)(ii) of this provision; or
- (iv) The employees of any of the entities identified in (c)(1)(i) through (c)(1)(iii) of this provision.
- (2) The Recipient agrees to extend the cross-waiver of liability as set forth in paragraph (c)(1) of this provision to its own Related Entities at all tiers by requiring them, by contract or otherwise, to:
- (i) Waive all claims against the entities or persons identified in paragraphs (c)(1)(i) through (c)(1)(iv) of this provision; and
- (ii) Require that their Related Entities waive all claims against the entities or persons identified in paragraph (c)(1)(i) through (c)(1)(iv) of this provision.
- (3) For avoidance of doubt, this cross-waiver includes a cross-waiver of claims arising from the Convention on International Liability for Damage Caused by Space Objects, which entered into force on September 1, 1972, where the person, entity, or property causing the Damage is involved in Protected Space Operations and the person, entity, or property damaged is damaged by virtue of its involvement in Protected Space Operations.
- (4) Notwithstanding the other conditions of this provision, this cross-waiver of liability shall not be applicable to:
  - (i) Claims between the Recipient and its own Related Entities;
- (ii) Claims made by a natural person, his/her estate, survivors, or subrogees (except when a subrogee is a Party to an Agreement or is otherwise bound by the terms of this cross-waiver) for bodily injury to, or other impairment of health, or death of such person;
  - (iii) Claims for Damage caused by willful misconduct;
  - (iv) Intellectual property claims; or
- (v) Claims for damages resulting from failure of the Recipient to extend the cross-waiver of liability to its related entities, pursuant to paragraph (c)(2) of this provision.
- (5) Nothing in this provision shall be construed to create the basis for a claim or suit where none would otherwise exist.
  - (6) This cross-waiver shall not be applicable when 51 U.S.C. 50101 et seq. is applicable.
- (7) This cross-waiver shall not apply to or affect the rights and obligations arising from any other Term and Condition or provision of this grant/cooperative agreement.
- 3. Personal identity verification of Recipient Personnel.

(This provision shall be included in grants when access is needed to the NASA Center and/or NASA information systems for greater than 180 days.)

## PERSONAL IDENTITY VERIFICATION OF RECIPIENT PERSONNEL (DEC 2014)

(a) The Recipient shall comply with agency personal identity verification procedures identified in the contract that implement Homeland Security Presidential Directive-12 (HSPD-12), Office

of Management and Budget (OMB) guidance M-05-24 and Federal Information Processing Standards Publication (FIPS PUB) Number 201.

- (b) The Recipient shall account for all forms of Government-provided identification issued to the Recipient employees in connection with performance under this contract. The Recipient shall return such identification to the issuing agency at the earliest of any of the following, unless otherwise determined by the Government:
  - (1) When no longer needed for grant performance.
  - (2) Upon completion of the Recipient's employee's employment.
  - (3) Upon grant completion or termination.
- (c) The Grant Officer may delay final payment under a grant if the Recipient fails to comply with these requirements.
- (d) The Recipient shall insert the substance of this clause, including this paragraph (d), in all subcontracts or subagreements when their employees are required to have routine physical access to a Federally-controlled facility and/or routine access to a Federally-controlled information system. It shall be the responsibility of the Recipient to return such identification to the issuing agency in accordance with the terms set forth in paragraph (b) of this section, unless otherwise approved in writing by the Grant Officer.

#### (End of Provision)

4. Restrictions on the Use of the NASA Seal, Insignia, Logotype, Program Identifiers, or Flags.

(This Term and Condition shall be included in all grants.)

# RESTRICTIONS ON THE USE OF THE NASA SEAL, INSIGNIA, LOGOTYPE, PROGRAM IDENTIFIERS, OR FLAGS (DEC 2014)

- (a) In accordance with 14 CFR Part 1221, the NASA Seal, NASA Insignia, NASA Logotype, NASA Program Identifiers, and the NASA Flags are protected and shall be used exclusively to represent NASA, its programs, projects, functions, activities, or elements.
- (b) The use of these devices by recipients shall be governed by the requirements and restrictions set forth at 14 CFR §§ 1221.109-113. Requests for use of these devices by recipients shall be subject to the prior written approval of the NASA Grant Officer in conjunction with the NASA Headquarters, Office of Communications.
- (c) The use of these devices by recipients for any purpose other than as authorized by NASA regulations shall be prohibited. Their misuse shall be subject to the penalties authorized by statute, as set forth in 14 CFR §1221.115 and shall be reported as provided in 14 CFR §1221.116.

#### Exhibit D – Award Terms and Conditions

Location	<u>Title</u>	<u>Date</u>
Appendix A to 2	Central Contractor Registration and Universal	Dec. 26, 2014
CFR Part 25	Identifier Requirements	·
Appendix A to 2	1	
CFR Part 170		
175.15	Trafficking in persons.	Dec. 26, 2014
1800.900	Terms and Conditions	Dec. 26, 2014
1800.901	Compliance with OMB Guidance on Uniform	Dec. 26, 2014
	Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and	
	Audit Requirements for Federal awards.	
1800.902	Technical publications and reports.	Dec. 26, 2014
1800.903	Extensions.	Dec. 26, 2014
1800.904	Termination and enforcement.	Dec. 26, 2014
1800.905	Change in principal investigator or scope.	Dec. 26, 2014
1800.906	Financial management.	Dec. 26, 2014
1800.907	Equipment and other property.	Dec. 26, 2014
1800.908	Patent rights.	Dec. 26, 2014
1800.909	Rights in data.	Dec. 26, 2014
1800.910	National security.	Dec. 26, 2014
1800.911	Nondiscrimination.	Dec. 26, 2014
1800.912	Clean air and water.	Dec. 26, 2014
1800.913	Investigative requirements.	Dec. 26, 2014
1800.914	Travel and transportation.	Dec. 26, 2014
1800.915	Safety.	Dec. 26, 2014
1800.916	Buy American encouragement.	Dec. 26, 2014
1800.917	Investigation of research misconduct.	Dec. 26, 2014
1800.918	Allocation of risk/liability.	Dec. 26, 2014
1800.919	Cooperative agreement special condition.	Dec. 26, 2014
1800.920	Multiple year grant or cooperative agreement.	Dec. 26, 2014
1800.921	Incremental funding.	Dec. 26, 2014
1800.922	Cost sharing.	Dec. 26, 2014
1800.923	New technology.	Dec. 26, 2014
1800.924 Designation of new technology representative and		Dec. 26, 2014
	patent representative.	
1800.925	Invention reporting and rights.	Dec. 26, 2014
1800.926	1800.926 Equipment and other property under grants with	
commercial firms.		
1800.927	Listing of reportable equipment and other property.	Dec. 26, 2014
1800.928	Invoices and payments under grants with	Dec. 26, 2014
	commercial firms.	
1800.929	Electronic funds transfer payment methods.	Dec. 26, 2014

### Exhibit E – Required Publications and Reports

#### REQUIRED PUBLICATIONS AND REPORTS

IN ACCORDANCE WITH 2 CFR 1800

The recipient shall submit the publications and reports indicated below:

	I he recipient shall submit the publications and reports indicated below:				
	INTERIM REPORTS	REPORT DUE/FREQUENCY	RECIPIENT		
X	Quarterly Federal Cash Transactions Reports (SF 425) (Required for all Grants and Cooperative Agreements except grants and agreements with commercial organizations)	Within 30 working days following the end of each quarter of the Federal fiscal year. ( <i>Ref.</i> 1800.906)	HHS/PMS		
	Annual Inventory Report of Federally-Owned Property in Custody of the Recipient (Required for all Grants and Cooperative Agreements, except grants and agreements with commercial organizations.)	No later than October <b>15</b> of each year. NOTE: Negative reports are not required. ( <i>Ref.</i> 1800.907)	FMO, IPO		
	Progress Reports (Required for all Grants and Cooperative Agreements.) (Not required if period is less than one year.)	Annually, 60 days prior to the anniversary date of the grant/cooperative agreement (except final year). ( <i>Ref.</i> 1800.902)	TO, GO, NTO		
	Disclosure of Subject Inventions/Reportable Items (Required for all Grants and Cooperative Agreements except for those issued solely to support education programs)	Within 2 months after inventor discloses it to recipient. (Ref. 1800.908 and 1800.925*)	PO, TO, GO, NTO		
	Election of Title to a Subject Invention (Required for all Grants and Cooperative Agreements)	Within 2 years of disclosure of a subject invention being elected, except in any case w here publication, on sale or public use of the subject invention being elected has initiated the one year statutory period wherein valid patent protection can still be obtained in the United States, at least 60 days prior to the end of the statutory period. ( <i>Ref.</i> 1800.908)	PO, TO, GO		

Subject Inventions/Reportable Items Interim Summary Report (Required for all Grants and Cooperative Agreements except for those issued solely to support education programs)	Every 12 months from the date of the grant/cooperative agreement. (Ref. 1800.908 and 1800.925*)	PO, TO, GO, NTO
Notification of Decision to Forego Patent Protection (Required for all Grants and Cooperative Agreements)	As applicable, not less than 30 days before the expiration of the response period required by the relevant patent office. ( <i>Ref.</i> 1800.908)	PO, TO, GO
Utilization of Subject Invention/Reportable Items (Required for all Grants and Cooperative Agreements except for those issued solely to support education programs)	Every 12 months from the date a subject invention is elected.  Note: Negative reports are required. (Ref. 1800.908)	PO, TO, GO
Annual NASA Form 1018 Property in the Custody of Contractors (Required for all Grants and Cooperative Agreements with commercial	Due not later than October 15 of each year. Note: Negative reports are required. ( <i>Ref. 1800.930</i> )	FMO, IPO
organizations)		
~	REPORT DUE	RECIPIENT
organizations)	REPORT DUE  Within 90 days after the expiration date of the grant/cooperative agreement. (Ref. 1800.908 and 1800.925*)	RECIPIENT PO, GO, NTO
FINAL REPORTS  Subject Inventions/Reportable Items Final Summary Report (Required for all Grants and Cooperative Agreements except for those issued solely to support	Within 90 days after the expiration date of the grant/cooperative agreement.	

Final Inventory Report of Federally-Owned Property (Required for all Grants and Cooperative Agreements, except those issued solely for education programs and grants and cooperative agreements with commercial organizations)	Within 60 days after the expiration date of the grant/cooperative agreement. (Ref. 1800.907)	CC, IPO, GO
Final NASA Form 1018 NASA Property in the Custody of Contractors (Required for Grants and Cooperative Agreements with commercial organizations)	Within 30 days after the expiration of the grant or cooperative agreement. (Ref. 1800.930)	FMO, IPO

<sup>\*</sup>Grants and cooperative agreements with colleges, universities, non-profit organizations, and small businesses will reference §1800.909. Grants and cooperative agreements with large businesses will reference §1800.925.

AGO = ADMINISTRATIVE GRANT OFFICER

IPO = INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY OFFICER

CASI = CENTER FOR AEROSPACE INFORMATION

NTO = NEW TECHNOLOGY OFFICE

CC = CLOSEOUT CONTRACTOR

PO = PATENT COUNSEL OFFICE

FMO = FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT OFFICE

TO = TECHNICAL OFFICER

GO = NASA GRANT OFFICER

UAO = UNIVERSITY AFFAIRS OFFICER

HHS/PMS = HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES PAYMENT MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

STIO = SCIENTIFIC & TECHNICAL INFORMATION OFFICE

#### Exhibit F – Guidance for the Preparation and Submission of Unsolicited Proposals

2014 EDITION (Revised November XX, 2014)

NASA OFFICE OF PROCUREMENT WASHINGTON, DC 20546

#### Introduction

NASA encourages the submission of unique and innovative proposals that will further the Agency's mission. While the vast majority of proposals are solicited, (<a href="http://solicitation.nasaprs.com/open">http://solicitation.nasaprs.com/open</a>) a small number of unsolicited proposals that cannot be submitted to those solicitations and yet are still relevant to NASA are reviewed and some are funded each year.

This document provides guidelines for the preparation of formal unsolicited proposals to those who wish to convey their creative methods or approaches to NASA. These guidelines apply to all unsolicited proposals for financial assistance (i.e., those that would result in grants and cooperative agreements) regardless of the NASA Installation or Agency program for which they are intended. However, these guidelines do not apply to solicited proposals, nor do they apply to proposals that would result in contracts, i.e., they are not for acquisition. Projects toward the research and development end of the spectrum are more likely to result in a grant (or grant-like award), rather than a contract and thus more likely to be suitable as unsolicited proposals. Proposals to provide supplies or services or to otherwise satisfy a NASA requirement, i.e., those that would result in a contract, do not fall under this guidance but are instead governed by the Federal Acquisition Regulation (FAR) and the NASA FAR Supplement (NFS). If a proposer suspects that the work that is being proposed will result in a contract, as opposed to a grant or cooperative agreement, they should refer to the Guidance for the Preparation and Submission of Unsolicited Proposals for procurement at <a href="http://prod.nais.nasa.gov/pub/pub\_library/unSol-Prop.html">http://prod.nais.nasa.gov/pub/pub\_library/unSol-Prop.html</a>.

Important Caveat to Potential Proposers:

Before any effort is expended in preparing a proposal, potential proposers should:

- (1)Review the current versions of the NASA Strategic Plan and documents from the specific directorate, office, or program for which the proposal is intended (e.g., the <u>Science Plan</u>, the <u>Strategic Space Technology Investment Plan</u>, the <u>Aeronautics Strategic Vision</u>, <u>Voyages: Charting the Course for Sustainable Human Space Exploration</u>, etc.) to determine if the work planned is sufficiently relevant to current goals to warrant a formal submission. NASA will return without peer review any proposal that is deemed not relevant to the office to which it was sent.
- (2)Potential proposers must review current opportunities (e.g., at <a href="http://solicitation.nasaprs.com/open">http://solicitation.nasaprs.com/open</a>) to determine if any solicitation already exists to which the potential project could be proposed. NASA will return without review any proposal that could have been responsive to a recent or current solicitation, or one that is

currently planned for the near future. Having missed a deadline for a recent open solicitation does not allow a proposal to be submitted as an unsolicited proposal.

(3)Potential proposers should review current awards (e.g., by doing key word searches at Research.gov, or at the NSSC grant status page) to learn what, if any, related work is already funded by NASA. Such preparation reduces the risk of redundancy, improves implementation, and sometimes results in collaboration.

Finally, after those three things have been done, the proposer may contact the appropriate NASA person (See the Appendix, that identifies the points of contact) to determine whether NASA has any interest in the type of work being proposed and if any funding is currently available. Since NASA does not reserve any funding for unsolicited proposals, viable ideas may not be supported simply for lack of funds. Discussions between NASA and potential proposers that convey an understanding of the Agency mission and needs relative to the type of effort contemplated do not jeopardize the unsolicited status of any subsequently submitted proposal.

#### **Contents**

**POLICY** 

**GUIDANCE** 

**DEFINING AN UNSOLICITED PROPOSAL** 

WHAT IS NOT AN UNSOLICITED PROPOSAL

WHEN TO SUBMIT

WHERE TO SUBMIT FORMAT

LENGTH

**PROPOSAL CONTENT** 

LIMITED DISTRIBUTION OF PROPRIETARY INFORMATION

**SECURITY** 

PROPOSALS FROM FOREIGN COUNTRIES

JOINT PROPOSALS

**REVISIONS OR WITHDRAWAL** 

**EVALUATION PROCEDURES** 

SELECTION OR DECLINATION OF UNSOLICITED PROPOSALS

INTERAGENCY COORDINATION NASA RESEARCH AREAS AND POINTS OF

**CONTACT FOR INQUIRES** 

#### **Policy**

NASA fosters and encourages the submission of proposals relevant to the Agency. All unsolicited proposals will receive equitable handling and, if eligible and appropriate, peer review. Please refer to the important caveat to potential proposers in the Introduction.

#### Guidance

This NASA Guidebook for Unsolicited Proposals for Financial Assistance has been revised in accordance with the NASA Grant and Cooperative Agreement Manual. All unsolicited proposals for financial assistance shall be submitted via NSPIRES, the NASA proposal data system (<a href="http://nspires.nasaprs.com">http://nspires.nasaprs.com</a>) in accordance with these guidelines. Only proposals for financial assistance (i.e., grants and cooperative agreements) are covered by this guidance.

#### **Defining An Unsolicited Proposal**

An unsolicited proposal is a written submission to an Agency on the initiative of the submitter for the purpose of obtaining an award from the Government and that is not in response to a formal or informal request (other than a publicized general statement of needs or a document such as this one). For more information see the section on Non-Competitive Awards in the NASA Grant and Cooperative Agreement Manual.

To be considered as a valid unsolicited proposal, a submission must:

- 1.Be of high scientific and/or technical merit: presenting unique and innovative methods, approaches, concepts, or advanced technologies, demonstrate adequate qualifications, capabilities and experience of the proposed team, facilities or other capabilities of the Offeror, and display a high overall standing of vs. the state of the art.
- 2.Be relevant to NASA generally and specifically to the office within NASA to which the proposal is directed.
- 3. The proposed costs are reasonable and realistic

4. The proposal could not have submitted to a current or pending NASA solicitation, see the important caveat to potential proposers in the Introduction.

The proposal must contain adequate detail and be clear and organized enough that reviewers can easily assess the three criteria above

#### What Is Not An Unsolicited Proposal

A proposal that fails to meet the definition of an unsolicited proposal, or that falls under any of the seven following categories is not considered a valid unsolicited proposal:

- 1. Technical correspondence that consists of a written inquiry from an individual, academic researcher, or others that should be addressed to NASA program offices, including:
  - inquiries regarding NASA's interest in research areas,
  - pre-proposal exploration,
  - general technical inquires,
  - concepts or ideas with little detail, and
  - research descriptions or suggestions that do not request NASA resources, typically funding.
- 2. Proposals for known NASA requirements that can be acquired by a competitive method, such as an offer to perform ordinary tasks (e.g., provide computer facilities or services) or that resemble a current or pending formal NASA solicitation.
- 3. Proposals for commercial items that are usually sold to the general public.
- 4. Advertising material designed to acquaint the Government with a prospective contractor's present products or potential capabilities.
- 5. Contributions that are concepts, suggestions, or ideas presented to the Government in which the source may not devote any further effort to it on the Government's behalf.
- 6. An invention or discovery that has officially received a patent or is otherwise protected under title 35 of the U.S. Code. If the Proposer is an owner of an issued U.S. patent, he or she may offer NASA a license in the patented invention by writing to the Office of the Associate General Counsel, Commercial and Intellectual Property Practice Group, NASA Headquarters, 300 E Street, SW, Washington, DC 20546. Please identify the U.S. patent number in your correspondence. An investigation will then be made to determine the extent of NASA's interest. Note that only U.S. patents will be considered.
- 7. A proposal for a new award or the renewal of an existing award that falls within the scope of an open NASA solicitation. These proposals must be submitted in response to that announcement unless it is determined that doing so will place the unsolicited proposal at a competitive disadvantage. If such a determination is made, the unsolicited proposal will be evaluated separately.
- 8. An unsolicited proposal is not an appropriate mechanism to request start-up funds to establish a laboratory.

#### When To Submit

There are no specific dates for the submission of unsolicited proposals. However, funding availability is greater during the start of the Government's fiscal year cycle beginning October 1 of each year. All proposals should be submitted at least six (6) months in advance of the desired starting date.

#### Where To Submit

All valid proposals may be submitted electronically via the NASA Solicitation and Proposal Integrated Review and Evaluation System (NSPIRES). All valid unsolicited proposals must be submitted in response to the unsolicited proposal response structure at NSPIRES. Please answer the program specific questions that will allow you to identify the appropriate Proposal Coordinating Office located at the NASA Installation where work is being performed and/or that relates to the proposed project. Refer to the areas of interest and the addresses at the end of this document. All formally received unsolicited proposals will be given a number and may be tracked by the offeror via the NSPIRES system.

All proposals to NASA must be submitted electronically. No hard copy proposals will be accepted. The only exceptions will be granted consistent with Section 5.1.5 of the Grants and Cooperative Agreements Manual. Electronic proposals must be submitted by one of the officials at the PI's organization who is authorized to make such a submission; electronic submission by the authorized organization representative (AOR) serves for the proposal as the required original signature by an authorized official of the proposing organization. Every organization that intends to submit an unsolicited proposal to NASA must be registered in NSPIRES. Registration must be performed by an organization's electronic business point-of-contact in the <a href="System for Award Management">System for Award Management (http://www.sam.gov)</a>. Each individual team member (e.g., PI, co-investigators, etc.), including all personnel named on the proposal's electronic cover page, must be individually registered in NSPIRES. Each individual team member must confirm their participation on that proposal (indicating team member role) and specify an organizational affiliation. Only one version of a proposal should be submitted to NASA. Proposals that duplicate (or that have significant overlap with) a proposal under review with NASA should not be submitted to NASA.

#### **Format**

There is no prescribed format for an unsolicited proposal, other than that the proposal should use a line spacing and be in a font at a size such that it can be easily read (e.g., single spaced or greater and 12-point Times New Roman or Arial or larger). Proposers are encouraged to adhere to the standard format described in the <a href="NASA guidebook for proposers">NASA guidebook for proposers</a>, or a format described in a recent solicitation from the directorate or office for which the proposal is intended.

#### Length

Proposals should be brief and concentrate on substantive material essential for a complete understanding of the project. Experience shows that few proposals have a technical section that exceeds 15 pages and many are shorter. Please see proposal contact below and the NASA guidebook for proposers for what is included in each section of a proposal. All necessary detailed information, such as figures, tables, charts, engineering diagrams, CVs, current and pending support, and budgets should be included in the single proposal PDF file uploaded into NSPIRES.

#### **Proposal Content**

As long as it includes the items described below and meets the definition of an unsolicited proposal, submissions will be considered. Unsolicited proposals should include the following information (8 parts) to permit consideration in an objective and timely manner. If the Proposer does not follow these guidelines, NASA may not be able to evaluate the proposal in a

meaningful way, and consequently, it may be returned or rejected. The Proposer has the option to resubmit the proposal after making modifications.

- **1. Cover page Information** As is the case for all proposals submitted via NSPIRES, the web interface will prompt the proposer for the following information:
  - The legal name and address of the organization; Type of organization; e.g., large business, small business, non-profit, educational, minority, woman-owned, etc.
  - Names and contact information of the principal investigator and Authorized Organizational Representative;
  - Names, affiliations, roles and contact information of team members
  - Long and Concise titles of the proposal;
  - A Project Summary
  - Identification of any other Government Agency or NASA Installation to which the same proposal has been submitted or from which funding has been received;
  - Desired starting date, and duration of project;
  - Names of NASA individuals with whom preliminary discussions have been held, if any;
  - As well as other standard questions about proprietary or ITAR information, participation by international or U.S. Government personnel and environmental impact.

Although any individual may create a proposal and release it to their organization, only a responsible person authorized to represent and obligate the offeror (an Authorized Organizational Representative or AOR) may officially "submit" a proposal via NSPIRES. For more information about the registering an organization in NSPIRES and or affiliating as an individual with an existing organization please see the NSPIRES tutorials and user guides at <a href="http://nspires.nasaprs.com/tutorials/">http://nspires.nasaprs.com/tutorials/</a>.

#### 2. Project Summary

The NSPIRES system will require proposers provide a "Project Summary" of up to 4000 characters (including spaces and invisible control characters if cut and paste from Microsoft word) that provides an overview of the proposed investigation. This abstract or Proposal Summary will be publicly accessible should the proposal be selected, so it should not contain any proprietary data or information that should not be released to the public (e.g., ITAR).

#### 3. Project Description: The Main Scientific/Technical part of the proposal

Proposers are encouraged to refer to the descriptions of the expected content and constituent parts of a proposal that appear in the NASA guidebook for proposers. The main body of the proposal should be a detailed statement of the work to be undertaken. The proposal should describe the complete project. The proposal should clearly describe what work is being done when and why. The duration of the project should be adequately justified. It should include objectives and expected significance (particularly in the context of the national aerospace effort), relation to the present state of knowledge in the field, relation to any previous work done on the project, and to related work in progress elsewhere. The document should fully describe the implementation, including the design of any experiments, observations, instrument development or modeling to be undertaken, methods and procedures at a level of detail adequate to demonstrate the likelihood of success. The best proposals present uncertainties in measurements, address potential pitfalls, and consider alternatives.

#### 4. Management Approach

For large or complex efforts involving interactions among numerous individuals or other organizations, plans for distribution of responsibilities and necessary arrangements for ensuring a coordinated effort should be described. Aspects of any important working relations with organizations other than the offeror, including Government Agencies, especially NASA Installations that were not already defined elsewhere in the proposal, should be described in this part.

#### 5. Personnel

Every team member identified as a participant on the proposal's cover page and/or in the proposal's Scientific/Technical/Management Section must acknowledge his/her intended participation in the proposed effort. The NSPIRES proposal management system allows for participants named on the Proposal Cover Page to acknowledge a statement of commitment electronically. If the team member cannot confirm their participation in NSPIRES then the proposer may include a statement of participation from this person in the body of the proposal

Outline the relevant experience and/or expertise of all key personnel in a way that would demonstrate these capabilities in relation to the proposed effort; a short biographical sketch, a list of principal publications, and any exceptional qualifications should be included. Give the names and titles of any others associated substantially with the project in an advisory capacity. Any substantial collaboration with individuals not referred to in the budget or use of consultants should be described.

The Proposer or principal investigator will be responsible for direct supervision of the work and participates in the conduct of the effort regardless of whether or not compensation is received under the award.

Educational institutions should list the approximate number of students/assistants involved in the project and information about their level of academic attainments.

Omit social security numbers and any personal information that does not merit consideration in evaluation of the proposal.

#### **6. Facilities and Equipment**

Identify any unique facilities, Government-owned facilities, industrial plant equipment or special tooling that will be required. A letter is required from the owner of any facility or resource that is not under the PI's direct control, acknowledging that the facility or resource is available for the proposed use during the proposed period. For Government facilities, the availability of the facility to users is often stated in the facilities documentation or web page. Where the availability is not publicly stated, or where the proposed use goes beyond the publicly stated availability, a statement, signed by the appropriate Government official at the facility verifying that it will be available for the required effort, is sufficient.

#### 7. Proposed Costs

Proposals must state the funding level being requested accompanied by a budget with sufficient detail to permit an understanding of the basis of the funding request. As applicable, include separate cost estimates for the following:

- salaries, wages, and fringe benefits for each employee;
- equipment;
- expendable materials and supplies;
- services:

- domestic and foreign travel;
- IT expenses;
- publication or page charges;
- consultants;
- contracts with budget breakdowns;
- sub-awards with budget breakdowns;
- other miscellaneous identifiable direct costs; and
- indirect costs.

List estimated expenses as yearly requirements by major work phases. If the proposal is multiyear in scope, submit separate cost estimates for each year.

List salaries and wages in appropriate organizational categories; for example, principal investigator, other scientific and engineering professionals, graduate research assistants and technicians, and other non-professional personnel. Estimate personnel data in terms of full months or fractions of full time. Do not use separate "confidential" or "proprietary" salary pages.

Proposers may not acquire and charge general-purpose equipment in excess of \$5K as a direct cost without the advance, written approval of the Agency's Grant Officer. Such requests must explain why indirect costs cannot be charged for the requested item or items and what controls will be put in place to assure that the property will be used exclusively for research purposes (i.e., explain why the proposed general purpose equipment cannot also be used for other purposes).

Explanatory notes should accompany the budget to provide identification and estimated costs of major capital equipment items to be acquired; purpose and estimated number and lengths of trips planned; basis for indirect costs; and clarification of other items that are not self-evident. Allowable costs are governed by 2 CFR 200.

#### 8. Other Matters

Include any required statements of environmental impact of the effort, human subject or animal care provisions, conflict of interest, or such other topics as may be required by the nature of the effort and current statutes, executive orders, or other government-wide guidelines.

Proposers should include a brief description of their organizations, facilities, and previous work experience in the field of their proposals. When related, state other current projects being conducted by the principal investigator:

- provide title and ending date of the project;
- identify the sponsoring agency, cognizant government audit agency, and administrative grant officer.

#### **Limited Distribution of Proprietary Information**

It is NASA policy to subject proposals to peer review thus the information contained in proposals may be made available to subject matter experts both inside and outside of the Agency for evaluation purposes only. Peer reviewers are required to sign non-disclosure agreements prior to viewing the contents of a proposal. Any information that the proposer believes is covered by ITAR should be clearly identified in the proposal.

However, proposers should be aware that the proposal summary, that provides an overview of the proposed project, should be suitable for public release because if the proposal is selected the title, proposal summary, and the name of the PI and their affiliation will be posted in publicly accessible archives.

#### **Notice**

#### Use and Disclosure of Information in the Proposal

This proposal includes data that shall not be disclosed outside the Government and shall not be duplicated, used, or disclosed-in whole or in part-for any purpose other than to evaluate this proposal. However, if a contract is awarded to this offeror as a result of or in connection with the submission of these data, the Government shall have the right to duplicate, use, or disclose the data to the extent provided in the resulting contract. This restriction does not limit the Government's right to use information contained in these data if they are obtained from another source without restriction. The data subject to this restriction are contained in Sheets [insert numbers or other identification of sheets].

#### **Security**

If the proposed effort requires access to or may generate national security classified information, the submitter will be required to comply with applicable Government security regulations. *Proposals should not contain national security classified material.* 

#### **Proposals From Foreign Entities**

NASA's policy is to conduct research with foreign entities on a cooperative, no-exchange-offunds basis. NASA does not normally fund foreign research proposals from foreign organizations, nor research efforts by individuals at foreign organizations as part of U.S. research proposals. This includes subawards from US organizations to investigators at foreign organizations and also travel by individuals at foreign organizations to conduct research, fieldwork, and present at conferences. Rather, each country agrees to bear the cost of discharging their respective responsibilities (i.e., the work to be done by team members affiliated with organizations in their country).

In accordance with the National Space Transportation Policy, use of a non-U.S. manufactured launch vehicle is permitted only on a no-exchange-of-funds basis.

The direct purchase of supplies and/or services, which do not constitute research, from non-U.S. sources by U.S. award recipients is permitted.

Proposals from foreign entities must be submitted in the same format as U.S. proposals and in U.S. dollars. All information should be typed and in English. The proposal should emphasize the unique nature of the project and/or the unique expertise of the proposer. Foreign proposals will go through the same evaluation and selection process as U.S. Proposals

#### **Joint Proposals**

Some projects involve joint efforts among individuals in different organizations. Where multiple non-Federal entities (NFE) are involved, the award is made to the submitting NFE. The proposal should clearly describe the role to be played by the other organizations and indicate the legal and managerial arrangements contemplated.

Simultaneous submission of related proposals from cooperating organizations, may result in parallel awards. The proposals should indicate the nature of the relationship among the proposals.

A project of a cooperative nature with NASA is possible. In this case, the proposal should describe the contributions expected from any participating NASA investigator and Agency facilities or equipment that may be required.

#### **Revisions Or Withdrawal**

If the offeror wishes to submit additional material or submit a revision they must inform the Proposal Coordinating Office that acknowledged receipt of the original proposal that is being withdrawn. Please identify the original proposal by title, PI name, and the NASA-assigned proposal number. Note that major revisions are likely to delay the evaluation process.

#### **Evaluation Procedures**

The principal elements considered in evaluating a proposal are its technical, scientific and/or engineering merit, relevance to NASA, and the cost realism and reasonableness.

Several evaluation techniques are regularly used within NASA. Some proposals are reviewed entirely in-house, others are evaluated by a combination of in-house personnel and selected external reviewers, while still others are subject to a full external peer review either by mail or through assembled panels. Due regard for conflict of interest and protection of proposal information is always part of the process.

Proposers not already familiar with Merit, Relevance and Cost criteria and NASA's evaluation methods should refer to Section C of the NASA guidebook for proposers.

#### **Selection or Declination of Unsolicited Proposals**

The decision to fund or not fund an unsolicited proposal is made by the selecting official based on the recommendation of NASA technical personnel.

NASA may choose to completely decline, fully fund or, in rare circumstances, offer to partially support a proposal, e.g., perhaps for a brief pilot or concept study.

Whether an unsolicited proposal is selected or declined, NASA will notify in writing the proposer of the decision in a timely manner. Whenever practicable, the evaluations that formed the basis of the decision, or a summary of those evaluations, should be provided to the proposer in writing. Notifications must be made and evaluations should be provided via NSPIRES, but may also be communicated by other methods.

If a proposal is accepted, any budget negotiation and making the award will be handled by the Center Grant Officer. The unsolicited proposal will be used as the basis for negotiation with the original submitter. Additional information specific to the award process (certifications, cost and pricing data, facilities information, etc.) will be requested as the negotiations progress. The vast majority of unsolicited proposals to NASA are declined. The bulk of rejections of unsolicited proposals are either due to relevance or cost. A notification letter, citing the reason(s) for rejection, will be sent to the individual who made the submission. Proposers should make inquiries with the NASA official who signed the notification letter.

#### **Interagency Coordination**

It is the Proposer's responsibility to make formal submission to potentially interested agencies according to those agencies' guidelines. Therefore, NASA does not transfer formal submissions to or accept similar submissions from other agencies without the express consent of the Proposer, except as they might be related to an interagency funding arrangement. Unsolicited proposals submitted to the Jet Propulsion Laboratory (JPL) are not considered as formal submissions to NASA.

#### **NASA Research Areas and Points of Contact for Inquiries**

The following broad subject areas of research provide insight into specific current and anticipated research goals of various NASA offices. Inquiries may be directed to the office listed below that corresponds to the subject area most closely aligned with the contemplated area of research of the planned unsolicited proposal. However, proposals may not be submitted directly to those offices but officially must be submitted via NSPIRES and will be directed to a specific office through answers given by proposers to the program specific questions on the NSPIRES web page. Only one version of a proposal should be submitted to NASA. Proposals that duplicate (or that have significant overlap with) a proposal under review with NASA should not be submitted to NASA.

NASA Headquarters
Armstrong Flight Research Center
Ames Research Center
John Glenn Research Center
Goddard Space Flight Center
Johnson Space Center
Kennedy Space CenterLangley Research Center
Marshall Space Flight Center
Stennis Space Center

#### **NASA Headquarters**

Inquiries may be directed to <a href="mailto:GSFC-UnsolicitedProps@mail.nasa.gov">GSFC-UnsolicitedProps@mail.nasa.gov</a>

#### Office of Space Flight

**Space Station** 

**Space Communications** 

**Human Exploration** 

Commercial Space Development

Office of Aero-Space Technology

Civil Aviation, including aviation safety, environmental compatibility, aviation capacity and operations systems, affordable air travel

Revolutionary Technology Leaps, including supersonic research, general aviation, design tools, X-planes

Access to space including space launch, space vehicle technology for orbital transfer, interplanetary travel, and deep space travel

Other areas of aerospace research: aerodynamics, aerothermodynamics, propulsion, structures, materials, flight control, rotocraft, information technology, vehicle health monitoring, cockpit displays and human factors

#### **Science Mission Directorate**

Astrophysics

Earth Science (including Applications)

Heliophysics Planetary Science

#### **Aeronautics Research Mission Directorate**

Airspace Operations and Safety

Advanced Air Vehicles

**Integrated Aviation Systems** 

**Transformative Aeronautics Concepts** 

#### Office of Life & Microgravity Sciences & Applications

Biomedical Research and Countermeasures

Fundamental Biology

Advanced Human Support Technology

Biotechnology

**Combustion Science** 

Fluid Physics and Transport Phenomena

**Fundamental Physics** 

Materials Science

Life and Biomedical Sciences and Applications

Microgavity Sciences and Applications

#### **NASA Ames Research Center**

Inquiries may be directed to

Contract Management Branch for Center Operations and Space

Attn: Grants Officer

MS: 241-1

Moffett Field, CA 940351000

Advanced Instrumentation

Advanced Life Support

Aeronautics

Aerothermal Materials and Structures

Aerothermodynamics

Aircraft Conceptual Design

**Applied Computational Fluid Dynamics** 

Astrobiology

**Atmospheric Physics** 

Bioregenerative Life Support

Computational Fluid Dynamics

Computational Materials Science

Control Algorithm for Wind Tunnel Support Systems

Earth Atmospheric Chemistry and Dynamics

**Ecosystem Science** 

Ecosystem Science and Technology

**Engineering and Technical Services** 

**Experimental Aerodynamics** 

Extravehicular Systems Research and Technology

Flight Research

HighSpeed Computer Architectures

**Human Factors** 

**Hypersonics** 

Infrared Astronomy and Astrophysics

Infrared Astronomy Projects and Technology Development

Neuroscience

Physical/Chemical Closed Loop Life Support

Planetary Biology

Planetary Science Rotary Wing Aeromechanics

Rotorcraft Technology

Scientific Visualization and Interactive Computer Graphics

Search for Extraterrestrial Intelligence

Solar System Exploration

Space Biology

Space Physiology

**Space Projects** 

Spacecraft Data Systems

**Telecommunications** 

Theoretical Astrophysics

**Turbulence Physics** 

**Unsteady Viscous Flows** 

Wind Tunnel Automation

Wind Tunnel Composite Applications

#### **NASA Armstrong Flight Research Center**

Inquiries may be directed to:

Acquisition Management Office

MS 1422

P. O. Box 273

Edwards, California 93523-0273

Aircraft Automation

Flight Dynamics

Flight Systems

Flight Test Measurements and Instrumentation

Fluid Mechanics and Physics

Integration Test Systems and Aircraft Development

Propulsion/Performance

Structural Dynamics

#### NASA John H. Glenn Research Center At Lewis Field

Inquiries may be directed to:

Grants Office, MS 500-319

21000 Brookpark Road

Cleveland, OH 44135-3191

**Advanced Composite Mechanics** 

Aerospace Applications of High Temperature Superconductivity

Aircraft Icing

Aircraft Power Transfer Technology

Aircraft Propulsion Systems Analysis

CeramicMatrix Composites

Computational Fluid Mechanics

Computational Structures Technology

Computational Technology

**Concurrent Engineering Simulation** 

Controls and Dynamics

Digital Systems Technology

Electrochemical Space and Storage

**Emissions Technology** 

Environmental Durability of Advanced Materials

**Experimental Fluid Mechanics** 

Fan/Propeller Aerodynamics and Acoustics

High Performance Aircraft Propulsion Technology

High Performance Computing and Communications/Numerical Propulsion Simulation

High Temperature Electronics Technology

Hypersonic Propulsion Technology

InSpace Technology Experiments

**Instrumentation and Sensors** 

Liquid Rocket Propulsion

Low Noise Nozzle Technology

Low Thrust Propulsion Fundamentals

Metal Matrix and Intermetallic Matrix Composites

Microgravity Materials Science

Microgravity Science and Applications

MMIC Technology

Molecular Computational Fluid Dynamics

Phased Array Antenna Technology

Photovoltaic Space Systems

Polymers and Polymer Matrix Composites

Power Materials Technology

Power Systems Technology

Probabilistic Structural Mechanics

**Rocket Engine System Monitoring** 

Solar Dynamic Power Systems

Structural Analysis and Life Prediction

Structural Dynamics

Structural Integrity

Thermal Management Technologies for Space Power Systems

**Tribiology** 

**Turbine Engine Technology** 

Vacuum Electronics

#### **NASA Goddard Space Flight Center**

Inquiries may be directed to: GSFC-UnsolicitedProps@mail.nasa.gov

Advanced Data Systems and Avionics

**Astronomy and Solar Physics** 

Atmospheric Chemistry and Dynamics

Biogeochemical Cycles

**Biospheric Studies** 

Climate Change

Cryogenics

Detector Technology (Gamma-ray, x-ray, UV, Visible, Infrared, Microwave, Radion)

**Environmental Sensors** 

**Experimental Instrumentation** 

Flight Dynamics

**High Energy Astrophysics** 

**Hydrospheric Process** 

Interdisciplinary Research

Laser Instrumentation

Microwave Sensors

Ocean Bioproductivity

**Optics** 

Planetary and Extraterrestrial Physics

Precision Attitude Control

SeaWiFS Project

Sensor and Instrument Calibration

Solid Earth Geophysics

Space Geodesy

**Terrestrial Physics** 

Thermal Systems

Tropical Rainfall Measuring Mission (TRMM)

#### NASA Goddard/Wallops Flight Facility

Inquiries may be directed to: GSFC-UnsolicitedProps@mail.nasa.gov

#### **NASA Johnson Space Center**

Inquiries may be directed to billy.e.autry@nasa.gov

Advanced Extravehicular (EVA) Systems

Advanced Software Technology

Biomedical and Nutritional Research

Biotechnology and Bioprocessing

Computer Graphics Research

**Endocrine Biochemistry** 

Environmental Physiology/Biophysics Research

Exercise Physiology

Flight Data Systems

Guidance, Navigation, and Control

Immune Responses to Space Flight

**Intelligent Robotics** 

Life Support Systems

**Orbital Debris** 

Pharmacokinetics Research

Physiologic Research

Planetary Materials Analysis

**Propulsion and Power** 

Psychological Research

Regenerative Life Support Systems

Risk Management

**Robotic Applications** 

**Robotic Simulation** 

Space Food Development

**Space Radiation** 

**Space Station Systems** 

Spacecraft Thermal Management Systems

Technology Development for New Initiatives

Telerobotics and Autonomous Robotic Systems

**Tracking and Communications** 

#### **NASA Kennedy Space Center**

Inquiries may be directed to:

Acquisition Management Office

Mail Code OP-AM

Kennedy Space Center, FL 32899-0001

Fluids and Fluid Systems

Materials Evaluation

**Process Engineering** 

Command, Control, and Monitor Systems

Range Systems

Logistics

Safety and Mission Assurance

**Environmental Engineering and Management** 

Workforce Development and Management Systems

**Information Systems** 

Simulation

**Biological Payload Processing** 

#### **NASA Langley Research Center**

Inquiries may be directed to Larc-dl-unsolicitedproposals@mail.nasa.gov

**Advanced Aircraft Systems** 

**Advanced Computational Capability** 

**Advanced Propulsion Capability** 

**Advanced Sensor Systems** 

Aerocoustics

Aerobraking

Aerodynamics and Aerothermodynamic Experiments

Analysis and Interpretation of Constituent and Temperature Data for the Middle Atmosphere

Climate Research Program

Computer Science

Configuration Definition for the Evolution of Space Station

Earth Radiation Budget Experiment (ERBE)

Electromagnetics, Antennas, and Microwave Systems

**Electronic and Information Systems** 

**Entry Fluid Physics** 

Facilities Engineering

First Lunar Outpost

Fluid Physics

General Aviation

Halogen Occultation Experiment (HALOE)

HighSpeed Aircraft Human Factors

**InSpace Technology Experiments** 

**Lunar Rover Robotics Missions** 

Materials Characterization Technology

Measurement Science and Instrument Technology

Measurements of Air Pollution from Satellites (MAPS)

Propulsion Space Controls and Guidance

Space Exploration Initiative

Space Systems Technology

Stratospheric Aerosol and Gas Experiment (SAGE)

Structures (Aero)

Structures (Space)

Subsystem Growth Requirements for Space Station

**Systems Engineering** 

Transport Aircraft

**Transportation Systems** 

Tropospheric Chemistry Research Program

Upper Atmospheric Research Program

#### **NASA Marshall Space Flight Center**

Inquiries may be directed to Jannifer.L.Matthews@nasa.gov

Aeronomy

**Astrophysics and Space Physics** 

Atmosphere/Land Surface Interface

**Audion Systems** 

**Biophysics** 

Climate Modeling with the CMI

Cloud Scattering of Lightning Discharges

Combustion Devices and Turbomachinery

**Communications Systems** 

Computational Fluid Dynamics

**Control Mechanisms** 

Control for Vehicles

Cosmic Ray Research

Cryogenic Physics

Crystal Growth in Fluid Field and Particle Dynamic Evaluation

Docking/Berthing Sensors

**Electrical Systems** 

Electronics, Sensors, Robotics

Gamma Ray Astronomy

Geophysical Fluid Dynamics and Modeling

Global Hydrology and Climate

Hypervelocity Impact Design and Analysis

Infrared Astronomy

International Space Welding Experiments (ISWE)

Liquid Propulsion Dynamic Analysis

Low Gravity Science

Magnitospheric and Plasma Physics

Microgravity

Model Studies of Storm Electrical Processes

Nonmetallic Materials Research

**Optical Systems** 

Payload Utilization

Physical Climate Analysis

Pointing Control Systems

**Process Engineering Research** 

**Quality Engineering** 

Reliability Engineering

**Solar Physics** 

Space Environmental Effects

**Space Propulsion** 

Space Environmental Effects on Materials

**Space Optical Systems** 

Space Vehicle Environments

Stratospheric and Mesospheric Studies

Structural Assessment: Structural Analysis

Structural Design

Structural Dynamics

Surface Properties/Atmospheric Boundaries Interactions

Thermal Analysis: Liquid Propulsion Systems

Thermal Analysis: Solid Rocket Motor

Thermal/Environmental Computational Analysis

Transportation System Development

Tropospheric Wind Profiling

Vibracoustics

X-ray Astronomy

#### **NASA Stennis Space Center**

Inquiries may be directed to rosalind.m.baker@nasa.gov

Active and Passive Nonintrusive Remote Sensing of Propulsion Test Parameters

**Advanced Propulsion Systems Testing** 

Application of Parallel Computing to Data Analysis

Computational Modeling and Simulation

Cryogenic Instrumentation and Cryogenic, High Pressure, and Ultra High Pressure Fluid

Systems

Earth Observation Technology

**Environmental Impact from Propulsion System Testing** 

**Ground Test Facilities Technology** 

Leak Detection, Sensors, Quantification and Visualization

LOX/GOX Compatible Materials

Material and Fluid Science

Nondestructive Test and Evaluation

Propellant and Pressurants Conservation, Recycling and Energy Conservation

Propulsion System Testing Techniques, Simulation, Modeling, and Methodologies

Propulsion Test Data Acquisition Systems

Spectroscopy Technology for Propulsion System Testing

Thermal Protection and Insulation Systems

**Grant and Cooperative Agreement Manual**Vehicle Health Management/Rocket Exhaust Plume Diagnosis

#### Exhibit G – Examples of Costs Categories from 2 CFR 200 Subpart E

- 1. <u>Direct Labor (salaries, wages, and fringe benefits)</u>: List number and titles of personnel, amounts of time to be devoted to the grant, and rates of pay.
- 2. Other Direct Costs:
  - a. <u>Subcontracts</u>: Describe the work to be subcontracted, estimated amount, recipient (if known), and the reason for subcontracting.
  - b. <u>Consultants</u>: Identify consultants to be used, why they are necessary, the time they will spend on the project, and rates of pay.
  - c. <u>Equipment</u>: List separately. Explain the need for items costing more than \$5,000, unless a lower threshold has been established by your institution for classifying such purchases as equipment. Describe the basis for estimated cost. General purpose equipment is not allowable as a direct cost unless specifically approved by the grant officer. Grant award constitutes approval for any equipment provided and was requested in the original proposal. Requests by grant recipients for the acquisition of equipment shall be supported by written documentation setting forth the description, purpose, and acquisition value of the equipment.
  - d. <u>Supplies</u>: For items below the threshold established for equipment, provide the general categories of needed supplies, the method of acquisition and the estimated cost.
  - e. <u>Travel</u>: Describe the purpose of the proposed travel in relation to the grant and provide the basis of the estimate, including information on destination and number of travelers where known.
  - f. Other: Identify and support all other direct costs not covered by 2a through 2e. Provide an itemized list explaining the need for each item and the basis for the estimate.
- 3. <u>Facilities and Administrative (F&A) Costs</u>: Identify F&A cost rate(s) and base(s) as approved by the cognizant Federal agency, including the effective period of the rate. Provide the name, address, and telephone number of the Federal agency official having cognizance. If unapproved rates are used, explain why, and include the computational basis for the F&A expense pool and corresponding allocation base for each rate.
- 4. Other Applicable Costs: Provide description, detail, and necessity for each item.
- 5. Subtotal-Estimated Costs: Provide the sum of items 1 through 4.
- 6. <u>Less Proposed Cost Sharing (if any)</u>: Provide the amount proposed. If cost sharing is based on specific cost items, identify each item and amount in an attachment.
- 7. <u>Carryover Funds (if any)</u>: Provide the dollar amount of any funds that are expected to be available for carryover from the prior budget period. Identify how the funds will be used if they are not used to reduce the budget. NASA officials will decide whether to use all or part of the anticipated carryover to reduce the budget. Not applicable to 2nd-year and subsequent-year budgets submitted for the award of a multiple year grant.
- 8. Total Estimated Costs: Provide the total after subtracting items 6 and 7 from item 5.